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control the management, operations, and affairs of Plains (the “Individual 

Defendants”), as well as those general partner entities (the “Entity Defendants”) 

(collectively, “Defendants”).  Plaintiff bases his allegations on, inter alia, actual 

knowledge as to his own acts, Defendants’ public statements and press releases, 

Plains’ public filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission 

(“SEC”), wire and media reports published regarding the Company, securities 

analysts’ reports and advisories about the Company, transcripts of Plains’ investor 

conference calls, and findings from both regulatory and criminal actions and 

investigations, and on information and belief as to all other allegations after due 

investigation by his counsel. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This derivative lawsuit arises from the disastrous consequences of 

Defendants’ strategy of focusing on maximizing the growth of the Company 

instead of ensuring that Plains complied with safety regulations.  Defendants’ 

complete lack of diligence allowed the Company’s internal safety infrastructure to 

deteriorate to the point that a catastrophic oil spill was inevitable.  In fact, the 

failure of Defendants to comply with their fiduciary duties led to the worst oil spill 

in California in the past quarter of a century, contaminating some of the most 

environmentally-sensitive and protected coastline in North America and causing 

significant harm to Plains itself. 
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2. According to its public filings, Plains is a publicly traded master 

limited partnership (“MLP”) with Plains GP serving as its “General Partner,” and 

is involved in interstate and intrastate crude oil pipeline transportation and crude 

oil storage activities.  As the Company’s general partner, Plains GP is expressly in 

charge of all Company activities and ultimately responsible for its well-being.  As 

stated on the Company’s website, the Company’s “operations and activities are 

managed by [Plains GP], which employs [the Company’s] management and 

operational personnel...”  The Company’s website likewise states that “the 

corporate governance of [Plains GP] is, in effect the corporate governance of the 

Partnership, subject in all cases to any specific unitholder rights contained in the 

partnership agreement.” 

3. The Company’s and Plains GP’s legal relationship is expressly 

governed by the Sixth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of 

Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (the “Partnership Agreement”) entered into with 

Plains GP.  Pursuant to the unambiguous terms of the Partnership Agreement, 

Plains GP must only take actions that it reasonably believes “to be in, or not 

inconsistent with, the best interests of [Plains].”  Any failure by Plains GP to do so 

is (at the very least) a direct breach of the Partnership Agreement. 

4. Since Plains’ initial public offering (“IPO”) in 1998, it has grown into 

one of North America’s largest energy pipeline operators.  Plains was able to 
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achieve this tremendous growth through nearly two decades of substantial 

acquisition activity, during which the Company acquired several large pipelines 

and terminal systems—many of them aging and in need of significant repair—in 

Texas, California, and Canada, among other places. 

5. Among Plains’ acquisitions were “Line 901” and “Line 903,” which 

make up the “All American Pipeline” that was built in 1987 and acquired by Plains 

in 1998. Line 901 (a 24-inch diameter pipe) extends approximately 10.6 miles 

from Exxon’s onshore facilities at Las Flores, California on the California coast to 

Chevron’s onshore facilities at Gaviota, California, where it connects with Line 

903 (a 30-inch diameter pipe) that continues from Gaviota approximately 128 

miles through Santa Barbara County, California and into Kern County, California. 

6. Taking control over such a vast network of pipelines, many in need of 

critical maintenance, placed considerable obligations on the Company.  In 

purchasing several companies with assets of varying quality, over a relatively short 

period of time, Defendants did not properly and fully determine exactly what they 

were acquiring, which created unnecessary additional risk to Plains. 

7. Nevertheless, Defendants represented that Plains’ “primary 

operational emphasis” was on pipeline integrity and maintenance, and that the 

Company had undertaken significant measures to prevent oil spills, ensure the 

integrity of its pipelines, and minimize the damage any oil spills might cause. 
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Although a Plains spokesman has admitted that the previous owners of the 

pipelines did not always maintain them diligently, he insisted that the Company 

performed rigorous due diligence before each purchase and invested the necessary 

capital to make the pipelines safe. The Company’s history of large spills during its 

period of rapid expansion, however, suggests just the opposite. 

8. In addition to representing that its pipelines were “in substantial 

compliance” with federal regulations governing the testing, operation, and 

management of pipelines, Defendants touted the Company’s “integrity 

management program,” which included measures that purportedly went above and 

beyond legal requirements.  Moreover, Defendants consistently reassured investors 

that the Company devoted significant resources to complying with government-

mandated pipeline integrity rules requiring the “establishment of pipeline integrity 

management programs and for protection of ‘high consequence areas’ where a 

pipeline leak or rupture could produce significant adverse consequences.” 

9. These assurances aside, Defendants have a long history of ignoring 

crucial safety issues. For instance, the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety 

Administration (the “PHMSA”), the federal agency that oversees the vast majority 

of Plains’ pipelines, conducted multiple inspections on the Company’s pipelines, 

many of which demonstrated severe worsening of pipeline integrity.  Since 2006, 

federal agencies have cited Plains for over 175 safety and maintenance violations. 
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10. Moreover, in 2010, the United State Environmental Protection 

Agency (“EPA”) sued Plains for a series of approximately ten spills over several 

years in Texas, Louisiana, Oklahoma, and Kansas, which discharged 273,420 

gallons of crude oil.  These spills included, among others, a 2004 crude oil release 

in West Texas during which 189,000 gallons of oil was discharged, at least partly 

into the nearby Pecos River, along with a 2005 spill in East Texas, which resulted 

in the release of approximately 50,000 gallons of oil that reached the Sabine River. 

Just weeks after the EPA filed suit, Plains agreed to pay fines of $3.25 million and 

adhere to certain operational procedures and restrictions. 

11. Nevertheless, the Board and/or Plains GP failed to regulate or reform 

the Company’s troubled safety record in recent years in violation of their fiduciary 

duties. Despite significant red flags alerting Defendants to problems with pipeline 

integrity, and repeated promises that Defendants were focused on the maintenance 

and reliability of Plains’ pipelines, Defendants continued to emphasize the 

acquisition of new assets over the monitoring and repair of existing assets. 

Defendants elected not to remedy the significant pipeline integrity issues of which 

they were keenly aware, turning a blind eye to various safety violations and the 

threat they posed to the environment, commercial and private property, and the 

Company’s financial well-being. 
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12. Moreover, Defendants have failed to adequately implement and 

monitor any effective safety initiatives on behalf of Plains.  These failures and 

breaches of the Partnership Agreement have forced the Company to incur millions 

of dollars in damages, along with the potential for significant additional damages 

resulting from the securities claims and criminal indictments filed against the 

Company. 

13. Defendants’ complete failure in this regard is remarkable. According 

to the PHMSA, Plains and its related companies have reported 229 safety and 

maintenance incidents on pipelines to federal regulators.  In fact, among the more 

than 1,700 operators included in a database maintained by the PHMSA, only four 

operators reported more incidents than Plains.  The Company’s reported infractions 

have involved pump failure, equipment malfunction, operator error, and pipeline 

corrosion, resulting in more than $23 million in property damage and the release of 

nearly 700,000 gallons of hazardous liquid. 

14. As a result of Defendants’ failures, on May 19, 2015, Line 901 

ruptured and began spilling thousands of barrels of oil into an environmentally-

sensitive coastal area in Santa Barbara, California (the “Santa Barbara Spill”).  

Notwithstanding Defendants’ consistent representations regarding their 

commitment to pipeline integrity and maintenance, before Defendants managed to 

shut off Line 901, approximately 3,400 barrels—or nearly 143,000 gallons—of 
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crude oil were released from the 24-inch underground pipe. At least one-fifth of 

the oil spilled into the Pacific Ocean, creating a slick that stretched for miles, 

forcing the closure of fishing grounds, destroying beaches, threatening countless 

species of marine life, and killing hundreds of birds and over 100 mammals, 

including sea lions and dolphins. 

15. This depressingly familiar result could have been avoided had 

Defendants adequately maintained Line 901, making it less susceptible to 

corrosion and rupture, or even if Defendants had installed an automatic shut-off 

valve on the pipeline.  These preventive measures are a crucial component of the 

oversight pipeline owners must demonstrate in order to avoid exactly the disaster 

that occurred during the Santa Barbara Spill. 

16. As Defendants shirked this responsibility, Line 901 became severely 

corroded prior to the spill, thinning to just 1/16 of an inch in some places.  

Additionally, under Defendants’ direction, three parts of Line 901 adjacent to the 

rupture had been repaired, indicating that they were aware of corrosion on the 

pipeline and knew how to address it. Nevertheless, Defendants failed to make the 

necessary repairs. 

17. In addition to ignoring the risks of pipeline corrosion, Defendants 

have refused to install automatic shut-off valves on Line 901.  Although these 

valves are ubiquitous on pipelines across the country, Line 901 is the only pipeline 
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of its kind in Santa Barbara County without this key safety feature. In fact, Santa 

Barbara County previously demanded that Defendants install shut-off valves and 

allow the County to inspect the welds on the pipeline.  Rather than installing such 

safety systems and protocols, as all other pipeline owners in the area did, 

Defendants sued, arguing that Santa Barbara County lacked the authority to force 

the Company to install an automatic shut-off system or inspect their pipeline. Even 

in the wake of the catastrophic Santa Barbara Spill, Plains has publicly announced 

that it will not install an automatic shut-off valve on Line 901. 

18. Following the Santa Barbara Spill, the PHMSA issued multiple 

corrective action orders, citing significant anomalies identified on Lines 901 and 

903 during previous inspections and noting the “extensive corrosion” present on 

both pipelines.  The PHMSA further noted that the results of Plains’ own 

inspection, just weeks before the Santa Barbara Spill, had revealed four areas on 

Line 901 with pipe anomalies that required “immediate investigation and 

remediation.”  These corrective action orders required Plains to take immediate 

corrective actions including, but not limited to, shutting down and testing the All 

American Pipeline, developing a remedial plan, and reviewing the Company’s 

emergency response procedures. 

19. Defendants were undoubtedly aware of Plains’ repeated spills, as well 

as the Company’s legal and regulatory failings.  These failings concerned the core 
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of Plains’ business, which Defendants were explicitly obligated to oversee.  

Furthermore, Plains had been the subject of lawsuits by the federal government, 

pursuant to which it entered into consent orders, and had plead guilty to charges in 

Canada in connection with various spills.  It is simply inconceivable that 

Defendants were unaware of Plains’ endemic regulatory and compliance issues. 

20. Nevertheless, under Defendants’ direction, Plains repeatedly 

represented to investors that it was in substantial compliance with environmental 

regulations and that pipeline integrity and maintenance was Plains’ “primary 

operational emphasis.”  Plains further stated that the Company had undertaken 

significant measures to prevent oil spills, ensure the integrity of its pipelines, and 

minimize the damage any such incidents may cause.  In fact, Plains specifically 

represented to regulators that Line 901 was closely monitored, that the pipeline 

and “its operation are state-of-the-art,” and that a spill at this pipeline would 

therefore be “extremely unlikely.” 

21. Plains has represented that it has “implemented programs intended to 

maintain the integrity of [its] assets, with a focus on risk reduction through testing, 

enhanced corrosion control, leak detection, and damage prevention” and 

“devote[d] substantial resources to comply with [government]-mandated pipeline 

integrity rules,” including “requirements for the establishment of pipeline integrity 

management programs and for protection of ‘high consequence areas’ where a 
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pipeline leak or rupture could produce significant adverse consequences.”  

According to Plains, the Company had “developed and implemented certain 

pipeline integrity measures that go beyond [its] regulatory mandate.”  These 

statements were clearly false, as evidenced by the Santa Barbara Spill and 

subsequent events that showcased the corroding condition of Plains’ pipelines and 

highlighted Plains’ consistent failure to bring its operations into compliance with 

regulatory requirements. 

22. Under Defendants’ direction and on their watch, Plains systematically 

eschewed pipeline integrity in an effort to reduce expenses. Defendants also 

knowingly or recklessly disregarded multiple red flags indicating both widespread 

pipeline integrity problems at the Company and severe problems with Plains’ 

pipelines.  As further described herein, Plains had inadequate pipeline integrity 

monitoring and maintenance procedures and spill response plans and protocols, 

and did not comply with federal regulations pertaining to the operation of its 

pipelines—let alone develop and implement enhanced “integrity measures that go 

beyond [its] regulatory mandate.”  Finally, as alleged herein, Plains GP breached 

its contractual duties pursuant to the Partnership Agreement and breached the 

implied contractual covenants of good faith and fair dealing in connection with the 

Santa Barbara Spill. 
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23. The Santa Barbara Spill and the revelation of the Company’s failure 

to take corrective actions to protect its pipelines and the environment has caused 

and will cause severe financial consequences to Plains, including tens of millions 

of dollars in potential liability for damage to property, commercial interests, and 

wildlife, as well as possible criminal liability for violations of the Clean Water Act. 

24. Further, less than a month after the spill, Plains had already incurred 

more than $60 million in clean-up costs.  In addition, on August 7, 2015, Plains 

filed its Quarterly Report Form 10-Q with the SEC for the period ended June 30, 

2015, which revealed that Company revenues had fallen by 40.5 percent relative to 

the same quarter in 2014 (i.e., prior to the Santa Barbara Spill).  By October 27, 

2015, Plains’ stock price had dropped by approximately 40 percent since the close 

of the markets on the eve of the Santa Barbara Spill to close at $30 per share. As of 

the time of the filing of this complaint, the price of the Company’s stock still has 

not recovered and currently trades for around $29 per share. 

25. Most recently, in May 2016, days before the anniversary of the Santa 

Barbara Spill, Plains was indicted on 46 criminal charges stemming from the 

catastrophic spill. 
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PARTIES 

I. PLAINTIFF 

26. Plaintiff is a current unitholder of Plains, has been a unitholder of 

Plains at all material times alleged in this Complaint, and will continue to be a 

unitholder of Plains through the conclusion of this litigation. 

II. NOMINAL DEFENDANT AND ENTITY DEFENDANTS  

 
27. Nominal Defendant Plains is a publicly-traded Delaware MLP, 

headquartered in Houston, Texas, which is involved in interstate and intrastate 

crude oil pipeline transportation and crude oil storage activities.  The Company 

has grown into one of North America’s largest energy pipeline operators by 

acquiring significant pipelines and terminal systems—many of them aging and in 

need of significant repair—in California, Texas, and Canada, among other places. 

Plains Common Units are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) 

under the symbol “PAA.”   

28. As with many publicly-traded partnerships, Plains does not directly 

have officers, directors, or employees.  Plains is owned 98 percent by its limited 

partners and 2 percent by its general partner. Its 2 percent general partner interest is 

held by Defendant PAA GP LLC (“PAA GP”), a Delaware limited liability 

company headquartered in Texas, whose sole member is Defendant Plains AAP, 

L.P. (“AAP”), a Delaware limited partnership headquartered in Texas. AAP also 
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owns all of the Company’s incentive distribution rights (“IDRs”).  Plains GP 

Holdings, L.P. (“PAGP”), a Delaware limited partnership that completed its 

initial public offering in October 2013, owns a 34.1 percent limited partner 

interest in AAP.  PAGP owns the largest beneficial interest in AAP.  After that, 

the next three largest beneficial owners are EMG Investment, LLC (Board 

member Raymond’s company), KAFU Holdings & KA First Reserve (affiliates 

of Kayne Anderson, where Board member Sinnott is employed), and Oxy 

Holding Company (the parent company of Occidental Holdings, the employer of 

Board member Figlock).  Defendant Plains GP, a Delaware limited liability 

company headquartered in Texas, is AAP’s general partner. PAGP is the sole 

member of Plains GP, and PAA GP Holdings LLC (“GP Holdings”) is the 

general partner of PAGP.   

29. The Company’s operations are conducted directly and indirectly 

through, and its operating assets are owned by, its foregoing general partner 

affiliates and subsidiaries (the “Entity Defendants”).  Plains GP has responsibility 

for conducting the Company’s business and managing its operations; however, 

PAGP also controls its business and affairs through the exercise of its rights as the 

sole and managing member of Plains GP, including its right to appoint certain 

members to the board of directors of Plains GP. 
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III. OFFICER DEFENDANTS 

30. Defendant Gregory L. Armstrong (“Armstrong”) is, and was at all 

relevant times, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer 

(“CEO”) of Plains GP.  He has served as Chairman and CEO since the Company’s 

formation in 1998.  In exchange for his purported trust, loyalty, and fidelity to 

Plains, Armstrong received a salary, performance bonus, non-cash benefits, and 

other remuneration in the amounts of $7,454,118 in 2013 and $4,292,040 in 2014. 

Defendant Armstrong was provided with copies of the Company’s public filings, 

press releases, and other communications alleged herein to be misleading prior to 

or shortly after their issuance and had the ability and opportunity to prevent their 

issuance or to cause them to be corrected. In fact, Defendant Armstrong signed 

certifications pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“SOX Certifications”), which 

certified that the Company’s financial statements were accurate and that the 

Company’s internal controls were effective. 

31. Defendant Harry N. Pefanis (“Pefanis”) is, and was at all relevant 

times, President and Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) of Plains GP. He has served 

as President and COO since the Company’s formation in 1998.  In exchange for his 

purported trust, loyalty, and fidelity to Plains, Pefanis received a salary, 

performance bonus, non-cash benefits, and other remuneration in the amounts of 

$6,962,880 in 2013 and $4,117,040 in 2014. 
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32. Defendant Al Swanson (“Swanson”) is, and was at all relevant times, 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of Plains GP.  He 

has served as Executive Vice President and CFO since February 2011, and has 

signed SOX Certifications on behalf of the Company.  He previously held various 

other roles at the Company, after joining Plains in or about 2000.  In exchange for 

his purported trust, loyalty, and fidelity to Plains, Swanson received a salary, 

performance bonus, non-cash benefits, and other remuneration in the amounts of 

$3,841,659 in 2013 and $1,917,040 in 2014. 

33. Defendant Chris Herbold (“Herbold”) is, and was at all relevant times, 

Vice President – Accounting and Chief Accounting Officer of Plains GP.  He has 

served in this capacity since August 2010, and worked in various other capacities 

since joining Plains in April 2002. 

34. The defendants set forth in paragraphs 30 to 33 above, are sometimes 

referred to herein as the “Officer Defendants.” 

IV. DIRECTOR DEFENDANTS  

35. As provided in the Partnership Agreement, the board of directors 

consists of eight members, appointed as follows:  (i) three of the members are the 

same individuals designated to serve on the board of directors of GP Holdings by 

the three members of GP Holdings that currently hold board designation rights for 

the GP Holdings board of directors (affiliates of The Energy & Minerals Group, 
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Kayne Anderson Investment Management Inc., and Occidental Petroleum 

Corporation); (ii) four of the members (three of whom must be independent 

directors eligible to serve on the audit committee) are elected, and may be 

removed, by PAGP, acting by majority vote through the board of directors of its 

general partner, GP Holdings; and (iii) one of the members is the Chief Executive 

Officer of GP LLC.  As a result of this structure, at least four of the eight members 

of the board of directors are not independent directors; moreover, there is no lead 

independent director. 

36. Defendant Bernard Figlock (“Figlock”) is, and was at all relevant 

times, a director of Plains GP.  He has served as a director of Plains GP since 

January 2015.  Mr. Figlock is also the Vice President and Treasurer of Occidental 

Petroleum Corporation (“Occidental”), where he directs and oversees management 

of treasury and risk management functions.  Additionally, Mr. Figlock is a director 

of PAA GP Holdings LLC, which is the general partner of Plains GP Holdings, 

L.P.  Occidental is one of the largest oil and gas companies in the United States, 

based on equity market capitalization.  In November 2014, Plains acquired a 50 

percent interest in BridgeTex Pipeline Company, LLC (“BridgeTex”) from 

Occidental for $1.088 billion.  Occidental is the primary shipper on the BridgeTex 

pipeline.  Moreover, during 2014, Plains recognized sales and transportation and 

storage revenues of approximately $1.2 billion from companies affiliated with 
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Occidental and purchased approximately $0.9 billion of petroleum products from 

companies affiliated with Occidental. 

37. Defendant Everardo Goyanes (“Goyanes”) is, and was at all relevant 

times, a director of Plains GP.  He has served as a director of Plains GP since May 

1999, and currently serves as Chair of the Board’s Audit Committee.  Mr. 

Goyanes has worked with various oil and natural resources companies throughout 

his career.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Goyanes is one of three purportedly 

independent directors elected to the Board by Plains GP Holdings, L.P., and may 

be removed from the Board by Plains GP Holdings, L.P., acting by majority vote 

through the board of PAA GP Holdings LLC. 

38. Defendant Gary R. Petersen (“Petersen”) is, and was at all relevant 

times, a director of Plains GP.  He has served as a director of Plains GP since June 

2001, and currently serves as a member of the Board’s Compensation and 

Governance Committees.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Petersen was elected 

to the Board by Plains GP Holdings, L.P., and may be removed from the Board by 

Plains GP Holdings, L.P., acting by majority vote through the board of PAA GP 

Holdings LLC. 

39. Defendant John T. Raymond (“Raymond”) is, and was at all relevant 

times, a director of Plains GP.  He has served as a director of Plains GP since 

December 2010, and currently serves as a member of the Board’s Compensation 
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Committee.  Mr. Raymond is also the CEO & Managing Partner of EMG 

Investment, LLC.  EMG is a private investment firm with approximately $16.8 

billion of regulatory assets under management.  EMG targets equity investments of 

approximately $150 million to $1,000 million in the energy and minerals sectors. 

Approximately $8.1 billion in commitments have been allocated across the energy 

sector since inception.  EMG owns approximately 20 percent of AAP. 

Additionally, Mr. Raymond is a director of PAA GP Holdings LLC, which is the 

general partner of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. 

40. Defendant Robert V. Sinnott (“Sinnott”), is, and was at all relevant 

times, a director of Plains GP. He has served as a director of Plains GP since 

September 1998, and currently serves as Chair of the Board’s Compensation 

Committee.  Mr. Sinnott previously held positions with United Energy Resources, 

another pipeline company, and with Bank of America, in its oil and gas finance 

department.  He is the President and CEO of Kayne Anderson Capital Advisors, 

L.P. (“Kayne Anderson”), a leading alternative investment firm that manages 

investments across multiple asset classes including energy, real estate, credit, and 

specialty growth capital.  During 2014, Plains purchased approximately $6.2 

million of oil from companies owned and controlled by funds managed by Kayne 

Anderson.  Additionally, Mr. Sinnott is a director of PAA GP Holdings LLC, 

which is the general partner of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. 
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41. Defendant J. Taft Symonds (“Symonds”) is, and was at all relevant 

times, a director of Plains GP. He has served as a director of Plains GP since June 

2001, and currently serves as a member of the Board’s Audit Committee and Chair 

of the Governance Committee.  Upon information and belief, Mr. Symonds is one 

of three purportedly independent directors elected to the Board by Plains GP 

Holdings, L.P., and may be removed from the Board by Plains GP Holdings, L.P., 

acting by majority vote through the board of PAA GP Holdings LLC. 

42. Defendant Christopher M. Temple (“Temple”) is, and was at all 

relevant times, a director of Plains GP.  He has served as a director of Plains GP 

since May 2009, and currently serves as a member of the Board’s Audit 

Committee.  Mr. Temple is also the chairman of Brawler Industries, LLC, a 

distributer of engineered plastics used in the exploration and production of oil and 

gas.  Additionally, Mr. Temple has served as a licensed CPA for clients in the 

energy sector.  Mr. Temple is one of three purportedly independent directors 

elected to the Board by Plains GP Holdings, L.P., and may be removed from the 

Board by Plains GP Holdings, L.P., acting by majority vote through the board of 

PAA GP Holdings LLC. 

43. According to the Form 10-K filed by Plains with the SEC for the 

fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 (the “2014 10-K”), the Board retains 

responsibility for the oversight of Plains’ management with regard to “identifying, 
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managing and monitoring events that present opportunities and risks with respect 

to creation of value for [its] unitholders.” 

44. Armstrong, Goyanes, Symonds, Raymond, Temple, Sinnott, Petersen, 

and Figlock are sometimes referred to herein as the “Directors,” the “Board,” or 

the “Director Defendants.”  Defendants Goyanes, Symonds, and Temple constitute 

the Plains GP audit committee (the “Plains Audit Committee”). 

45. Collectively, the Officer Defendants and the Director Defendants are 

referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.” 

46. Defendants have fiduciary duties to the Company.  These include the 

common-law obligations of trust, loyalty, good faith, oversight, and due care. 

Defendants were and are required to use their utmost ability to control and manage 

Plains in a fair, just, honest, and equitable manner.  Defendants were entrusted to 

use their abilities faithfully to ensure the Company’s best interests in the long term. 

Although the Partnership Agreement purports to limit certain of the general 

partner’s fiduciary duties, those purported limitations do not insulate Defendants 

from the wrongful conduct set forth herein because, Defendants failed, inter alia,   

to act in good faith and in a manner that they reasonably believed to be in the best 

interests of the Company. 

47. To discharge their duties, Defendants were required to, inter alia, 

exercise reasonable and prudent supervision over the selection, oversight, 
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performance, and performance monitoring of management and employees, as well 

as policies, standards, practices, and controls of the Company, including those 

controls designed to ensure that the Company’s operations were conducted in a safe 

manner.  The Company’s safety controls are especially crucial to a business such as 

Plains, which constantly engages in the transport of hazardous materials through 

environmentally-sensitive areas.  Further, Defendants were responsible for 

maintaining and establishing adequate internal controls to ensure that the 

Company’s public statements were based on accurate research, financial, and 

operational information, and that they were not presented in a misleading manner. 

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

I. INDUSTRY BACKGROUND & APPLICABLE REGULATIONS  

48. Most companies that own and operate extensive pipeline transportation 

systems, like Plains, are subject to the jurisdiction of the PHMSA, which enforces 

regulations promulgated under the Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Safety Act of 1979 

(the “Pipeline Safety Act” or the “HLPSA”).  The HLPSA imposes safety 

requirements on petroleum pipeline operators, like Defendants, related to the 

“design, installation, testing, construction, operation, replacement and management 

of pipeline and tank facilities.” 

49. Further, federal regulations enacted pursuant to the HLPSA require 

Defendants “to adopt measures designed to reduce the environmental impact of oil 
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discharges from onshore oil pipelines, including the maintenance of 

comprehensive spill response plains and the performance of extensive spill 

response training for pipeline personnel.” 

50. Amendments to the HLPSA in 2002 and 2006 required Defendants 

“to implement integrity management programs, including more frequent 

inspections, correction of identified anomalies and other measures to ensure 

pipeline safety in ‘high consequence areas,’ such as high population areas, areas 

unusually sensitive to environmental damage, and commercially navigable 

waterways.” 

51. Accordingly, PHMSA regulations enacted pursuant to the HLPSA 

required Plains to implement enhanced measures regarding so-called “high 

consequence areas” (“HCAs”).  For example, Plains is required to: (i) conduct 

assessments of internal and external corrosion; (ii) establish an integrity 

management program that provides for “[a] continual process of assessment and 

evaluation to maintain a pipeline’s integrity”; (iii) implement “preventive and 

mitigative measures to protect the high consequence area”; (iv) “take prompt action 

to address all anomalous conditions” discovered through an integrity assessment; 

and (v) consider installation of Emergency Flow Restricting Devices to protect an 

HCA in the event of a hazardous liquid pipeline release.  Because Lines 901 and 

903 were in an HCA—due to their proximity to the pristine and environmentally-
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sensitive Santa Barbara coastline, rivers, state parks, and national forest—they were 

at all relevant times subject to PHMSA’s enhanced HCA requirements. 

52. Plains was also subject to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 

as amended (the “CWA”), which imposes restrictions and strict controls 

regarding the discharge of pollutants, such as crude oil, into navigable waters of 

the United States and Canada, as well as state waters.  Pursuant to the CWA, 

federal and state regulatory agencies can impose administrative, civil, and/or 

criminal penalties for non-compliance with discharge permits or other 

requirements of the CWA. 

53. Certain provisions of the CWA related to petroleum product spills into 

navigable waters were amended by the Oil Pollution Act (“OPA”).  The OPA 

makes owners of pipeline facilities subject to strict, joint, and potentially unlimited 

liability for containment and removal costs, natural resource damages, and certain 

other consequences of an oil spill.  For onshore pipelines like Lines 901 and 903, 

the OPA also regulates oil spill response plans, requiring “[i]mmediate notification 

procedures” and “[s]pill detection and mitigation procedures.” 

54. Finally, Plains is subject to the EPA’s Risk Management Plan 

regulations. Under EPA regulations, Plains was required to develop and implement 

a plan—including “a five-year accident history, an offsite consequence analysis 
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process, a prevention program and an emergency response program”—to help 

emergency response personnel prepare for and respond to chemical emergencies. 

II. BACKGROUND OF THE COMPANY 

55. According to its public filings, Plains is a publicly-traded MLP 

involved in interstate and intrastate crude oil pipeline transportation and crude oil 

storage activities. Prior to and during the relevant period, Plains grew into one of 

North America’s largest energy pipeline operators.  That growth was achieved 

primarily through an acquisition binge, during which Plains acquired significant 

pipelines and terminal systems—many of them aging and in need of crucial 

maintenance—in California, Texas, and Canada, among other places. Taking 

control of a vast network of pipelines placed significant obligations on the 

Company to ensure the integrity of those networks. 

56. Among Plains’ acquisitions were Lines 901 and 903, which make up 

the All American Pipeline, built in 1987 and acquired by Plains in 1998.  When the 

All American Pipeline was acquired, Plains GP caused the Company to state in its 

Form 10-K for 1998: 

The Partnership performs scheduled maintenance on the pipeline and makes 
repairs and replacements when necessary or appropriate.  As one of the 
most recently constructed major crude oil pipeline systems in the United 
States, the All American Pipeline requires a relatively low level of 
maintenance capital expenditures.  The Partnership attempts to control 
corrosion of the pipeline through the use of corrosion inhibiting chemicals 
injected into the crude stream, external pipe coatings and an anode bed 
based cathodic protection system.  The Partnership monitors the structural 
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integrity of the Plains All American Pipeline through a program of periodic 
internal inspections using electronic “smart pig” instruments.  The 
Partnership conducts a weekly aerial surveillance of the entire pipeline and 
right-of-way to monitor activities or encroachments on rights-of-way. 
Maintenance facilities containing equipment for pipe repair, digging and 
light equipment maintenance are strategically located along the pipeline.  
The Partnership believes that the All American Pipeline has been 
constructed and is maintained in all material respects in accordance with 
applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations, standards prescribed 
by the American Petroleum Institute and accepted industry standards of 
practice. 
 
57. As the Company’s General Partner, Plains GP is expressly in charge 

of all Company activities and is ultimately responsible for Plains’ well-being.  As 

stated on the Company’s website, the Company’s “operations and activities are 

managed by [Plains GP], which employs [the Company’s] management and 

operational personnel...”  The Company’s website likewise states that “the 

corporate governance of [Plains GP] is, in effect, the corporate governance of the 

Partnership, subject in all cases to any specific unitholder rights contained in the 

partnership agreement.” 

58. According to the Partnership Agreement entered into with Plains GP, 

Plains GP must only take actions that it reasonably believes “to be in, or not 

inconsistent with, the best interests of [Plains].”  Any failure by Plains GP to do so 

is a direct breach of the Partnership Agreement.  As alleged herein, Plains GP 

breached its contractual duties pursuant to the Partnership Agreement and breached 
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the implied contractual covenants of good faith and fair dealing in connection with 

the Santa Barbara Spill. 

59. In fact, in direct contravention of the Partnership Agreement, 

Defendants (specifically, Plains GP) caused Plains to continue operating failing 

pipelines.  Moreover, while the Partnership Agreement expressly requires 

Defendants to only take actions that they reasonably believe to be in the “best 

interest” of the company, Defendants (specifically, Plains GP) actively avoided 

taking action to mitigate the risks and damages that Line 901 presented. 

60. Even as Plains touted its commitment to safety, the Company’s SEC 

filings disclosed that Plains had “experienced (and likely will experience future) 

releases of hydrocarbon products into the environment from [its] pipeline ... 

operations” that “may reach surface water bodies.”  Defendants knew of the 

extremely high risk of catastrophic injury inherent in the transportation of oil 

through a pipeline, but took no action to prevent such incidents or protect 

individuals, the environment, or the Company. 

III. PLAINS’ ABYSMAL SAFETY RECORD 

61. In spite of the strict regulations governing pipeline operators, and 

Plains’ purported commitment to safety and pipeline integrity, over the past decade, 

Plains and its affiliated companies have reported to federal regulators 229 safety 

and maintenance incidents on its pipelines.  In fact, only four of the more than 
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1,700 pipeline operators included in a database maintained by the PHMSA reported 

more incidents than Plains.  The Company’s reported infractions involved pump 

failure, equipment malfunction, operator error, and pipeline corrosion, resulting in 

tens of millions of dollars in property damage and the release of more than 688,000 

gallons of hazardous liquid.  Plains has also been required to pay millions of 

dollars in fines and tens of millions of dollars to upgrade more than 10,000 miles 

of pipe. 

A. History of Spills from Plains Pipelines 

62. According to the EPA, between June 2004 and September 2007, 

approximately 6,510 barrels (more than a quarter of a million gallons) of crude oil 

were discharged from various pipelines owned and operated by Plains into 

navigable waters and/or adjoining shorelines in the states of Texas, Louisiana, 

Oklahoma, and Kansas in violation of the CWA.  In particular, the EPA noted the 

following discharges: 

a. In June 2004, a damaged poly-pipeline slip insert and external 

corrosion caused nearly 6,000 gallons of crude oil to spill into the East Spring 

Creek and adjacent wetlands in Kansas; 

b. In November 2004, external corrosion led to the spill of over 

1,500 gallons of crude oil into the Latan Creek in Texas; 
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c. In December 2004, only months after Defendants nearly 

doubled the size of the Company by purchasing another large pipeline operator, a 

cracked weld joint on a Plains pipeline in Texas caused a discharge of more than 

140,000 gallons of oil, sending several thousand gallons into the Pecos River; 

d. In January 2005, a failed pressure relief pin coupled with an 

undersized temporary relief tank located outside of secondary containment led to 

the spill of over 37,000 gallons of crude oil, sending discharges into the Sabine 

River in Texas; 

e. In March 2005, external corrosion on a Plains pipeline in Texas 

brought about a discharge of oil into Caddo Lake; 

f. In April 2005, internal corrosion of a Louisiana section of 

Plains pipeline caused nearly 200 gallons of crude oil to spill into Big Lake and 

adjacent wetlands; 

g. In July 2005, internal corrosion led to a spill of over 1,500 

gallons of crude oil into tributaries of Pond Creek; 

h. In November 2005, external pipeline corrosion caused a spill of 

more than 600 gallons of crude oil in Texas, leading to discharges into Bull Creek 

Canal; 

i. In August 2007, external pipeline corrosion caused a spill of 

nearly 13,000 gallons of oil, discharging crude oil into Texas’ Colorado River; and 
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j. In September 2007, external corrosion of a Plains pipeline in 

Texas, in a repeat of the August 2007 incident, caused another 3,150 gallons of 

crude oil to leak from the pipeline, discharging more crude oil into the Colorado 

River. 

63. In 2010, as a result of these spills, the EPA filed a complaint against 

Plains, concurrently with the entry of a consent decree (the “2010 Consent 

Decree”), alleging that the Company was liable for civil penalties and injunctive 

relief to the United States pursuant to the Clean Water Act.  Under the 2010 

Consent Decree, Plains was required to pay $3.25 million in civil penalties and 

spend $41 million to upgrade more than 10,000 of pipe.  Additionally, the EPA 

required Plains to conduct weekly aerial patrols of certain of its pipelines to check 

for leaks, install computational pipeline monitoring capabilities to ensure ongoing 

monitoring for 110 segments of pipeline (including Line 901), and spend millions 

of dollars on efforts to mitigate threats posed by corrosion. 

64. The 2010 Consent Decree additionally imposed various reporting 

requirements on the Company including, among other things, updates on the status 

of required compliance measures, summaries of action plans developed pursuant to 

the Consent Order, descriptions of steps taken to implement the action plans, and 

descriptions of problems encountered or anticipated to be encountered in the 

implementation of the Consent Order, along with implemented or proposed 
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solutions.  The Consent Decree further provided that Plains would be liable for 

monetary penalties to the United States for violations of the Consent Decree. 

65. Despite the 2010 Consent Decree, Defendants continued to cause the 

Company to avoid the diligence and expense required to properly maintain its 

pipelines, and instead continue on the path of paying fines for failure to do so as a 

cost of doing business.  For example, on April 29, 2011, a 30-year-old weld on a 

pipeline in Canada failed, resulting in the discharge of approximately one million 

gallons of crude oil into marshlands near the community of Little Buffalo, Alberta 

(the “Little Buffalo Spill”).  A persistent odor from the oil forced a nearby school 

to close for several days.  The pipeline, which had been laid in 1966, was 

purchased by Plains in 2008.  Investigators found that, before the spill, the 

company’s leak detection gauges produced readings 20 times the level that would 

indicate a problem but, according to court records, the Company had few written 

policies regarding leak detection, so the problems were not properly reported and 

the pipeline was not shut down. 

66. In June 2012, heavy rains caused a 46-year-old pipeline to leak and 

spill thousands of barrels of crude oil into the Red Deer River in Alberta, Canada 

(the “Red Deer River Spill”).  The spill forced a recreational reservoir downstream 

from the spill to close for weeks, and many residents were treated at a local 

hospital for respiratory complaints.  The Alberta Energy Regulator, which oversees 
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the oil industry in the province of Alberta, found that Plains had failed to complete 

inspections of the pipeline at the frequency required by its own maintenance 

standards, and that the Company did not inspect the pipeline annually, as required 

by the federal pipeline rules.  Moreover, Plains neglected to take precautionary 

measures to prevent flood damage, despite warnings from provincial authorities. 

67. In May 2014, a valve malfunction caused another Plains pipe to 

rupture in the Atwater Village neighborhood of Los Angeles, California, causing 

oil to erupt more than 20 feet into the air and rain down on a nearby strip club and 

other local businesses (the “Atwater Village Spill”).  Patrons of the strip club were 

coated in oil and the club was forced to evacuate.  According to a report from the 

California State Fire Marshal, the mess took several days to clean up and caused 

more than $3 million in damage to nearby businesses and roads.  Investigators 

determined that a set of screws holding a valve in place failed, leading to the 

release of nearly 14,000 gallons of crude oil into the environment. 

B. Regulatory Violations 

68. In addition to these spills, prior to and during the relevant period, the 

PHMSA repeatedly cited Plains for corrosion control deficiencies.  In fact, Plains’ 

systemic corrosion control failures in violation of the HLPSA resulted in more than 

78 oil spills directly caused by corrosion since 2006, making corrosion the leading 

cause of the Company’s oil spills over the past 10 years.  The Company’s 
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corrosion-related incidents represented close to 40 percent of the Company’s 

overall releases. 

69. The corrosion control deficiencies related to Lines 901 and 903 

(discussed in detail below) were not unique.  Indeed, Plains’ pipeline systems 

throughout the United States were rife with similar problems: 

 In 2010, the U.S. Department of Transportation (the “DOT”) issued a 
final order finding that Plains had violated 49 C.F.R. § 195.573 for 
failure to electrically check external corrosion control rectifiers at the 
intervals required by regulations, to promptly correct corrosion 
control deficiencies, and to examine coupons that monitor corrosion 
inhibitors in its pipeline systems at various facilities.  These 
deficiencies were discovered during inspections of Plains’ facilities in 
California, Colorado, Wyoming, Utah, Montana, Louisiana, 
Oklahoma, New Mexico, Mississippi, and Texas. 

 In 2011, the DOT issued a final order and held that Plains’ violation 
of 49 C.F.R. § 195.581 for failing to coat a pipeline against 
atmospheric corrosion would be considered a prior offense in 
subsequent enforcement actions. This deficiency was found during a 
New Mexico facility inspection. 

 In 2013, the DOT issued a final order finding that Plains had violated 
49 C.F.R. § 195.579 for inadequacies and inconsistencies in Plains’ 
procedure on corrosion control, an insufficient number of coupons 
used to monitor the effectiveness of corrosion inhibitors and, again, 
failure to examine coupons at the required intervals at certain 
facilities.  These deficiencies were found during inspections of Plains’ 
facilities in Oklahoma, Texas, New Mexico, and Louisiana. 

 In 2013, the PHMSA issued a warning letter to Plains for violation of 
49 C.F.R. § 195.579 for failing to inspect a portion of pipeline for 
internal and external corrosion in violation of regulatory requirements 
to conduct examination of a pipeline whenever it is exposed.  This 
deficiency was found during inspection of Plains’ headquarters in 
Texas, and at facilities in Wyoming. 

 In 2014, the PHMSA issued a warning letter to Plains for violation of 
49 C.F.R. § 195.581 for failure to properly coat pipelines against 
corrosion at different locations, resulting in coating degradation at 
multiple facilities. 
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70. Data from the PHMSA reveals that, prior to and during the relevant 

period, Plains was the worst pipeline operator in the United States—as measured 

both by the number of total incidents and also by the number of incidents per 1,000 

miles of pipeline operated.  Such incidents raised red flags during the relevant 

period, all of which were known to Defendants but ignored in favor of a short-

sighted, profits-based strategy that directly contradicted the Company’s public 

statements. 

71. Despite the efforts of multiple regulatory agencies in imposing civil 

penalties and injunctive relief, Plains’ record continued to worsen.  The number of 

Plains’ pipeline incidents resulting in significant releases of greater than 20 barrels 

increased by 44 percent in the four years after the execution of the 2010 Consent 

Decree when compared to the four years leading up to entry of the 2010 Consent 

Decree. 

72. Even Defendant Armstrong recognized Plains’ dismal record in his 

internal presentation on environmental safety, which he made to Plains employees 

just hours before the Santa Barbara Spill:  “Have we always highlighted or 

communicated safety as much as we could/should have? Undoubtedly we have not. 

Can we do even better? You bet! ... Must we do better? Absolutely.” 

73. When speaking with investors, however, Defendant Armstrong 

blamed others for Plains’ shoddy record:  “We used to say:  I really fear shallow-
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line pipelines and deep-pulling plows, because if somebody pulls their plow 

through our pipeline it may be their fault but it’s our problem, and we have to go 

out and take care of that ... you have the same goal, zero incidents.  That doesn’t 

always happen.  There are wrecks; people do pull in front of you; things happen.”  

In truth, nobody pulled a plow through Line 901. 

C. Defendants Recklessly Disregarded Severe Problems Specifically 
with Lines 901 & 903 Prior to the Santa Barbara Spill 

1. Detection of Significant Anomalies 

74. Following initiation of operations on Line 901, Plains conducted 

periodic inspections of the condition of the pipeline with internal inspection 

devices called pipeline inspection gauges, or “smart pigs.”  Smart pigs are run 

inside a pipeline to detect anomalies caused by corrosion, cracks, laminations, 

dents, and other defects.  These runs are referred to in the industry as “ILIs.” 

75. According to the PHMSA, “[i]n 2007 and 2012, there were 13 and 41 

excavations of ILI-identified anomalies on the pipeline, respectively.  These 

anomalies were mostly due to external corrosion, frequently located near the 

pipeline’s girth welds.”  Such a dramatic increase in the number of identified 

anomalies during a 5-year period indicates that corrosion processes acting on the 

pipeline were very active, despite Plains’ purported external and internal corrosion 

mitigation processes. 
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76. Following the 2007 ILI, Plains obtained permits to address 15 

anomalies on Lines 901 and 903, 13 of which were present on Line 901.  

Documents related to Plains’ application for permits to address these anomalies 

reveal that one of the anomalies “[a]ppears to be the location of the [Santa Barbara 

Spill].”  In fact, since the Santa Barbara Spill, the PHMSA has revealed that three 

repairs had been made on Line 901 “in the area near the Failure site that had been 

made due to external corrosion,” many of which can be seen in photographs of the 

excavated Line 901 segment. 

77. Partial, redacted results from the 2007 ILI survey of Line 901 reveal 

that Plains’ ILI vendor identified 29 features in Line 901 that had corrosion metal 

loss that equaled or exceeded 40 percent of the pipeline wall thickness and 12 

features that had corrosion metal loss that equaled or exceeded 50 percent of the 

pipeline wall thickness.  These metal losses were attributed both to external 

corrosion (frequently located near the pipeline girth welds) and internal corrosion.  

The 2007 ILI survey results identified the top five most severely corroded 

locations, which had maximum depths of corrosion that ranged from 52 percent to 

67 percent of the pipeline wall thickness.  These results indicated the Line 901 was 

experiencing very active internal and external corrosion, despite Plains’ purported 

maintenance and corrosion control procedures. 
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78. Governmental records also indicate that, following the 2012 ILI, 

Plains obtained permits to address 82 anomalies on Line 903—the same anomalies 

that led to the eventual shutdown of that pipeline. 

79. It is evident, therefore, that Defendants had previously identified the 

anomalies at the precise location of Line 901’s rupture, as well as those riddled 

along Line 903 that resulted in its shut-down.  Rather than replace the pipes, 

however, as required given the age of the pipes and the proliferating corrosion, 

Plains merely opted to conduct patchwork repairs. 

80. On May 5, 2015, Plains’ vendor conducted an ILI that revealed four 

areas on Line 901 with pipe anomalies that required “immediate investigation and 

remediation” under relevant regulations and Plains’ own integrity management 

plan.  The vendor’s normal practice was to immediately notify Plains of any 

anomalies, such as those found during the May 5 ILI, which required immediate 

attention.  Such anomalies were identified by the ILI vendor in a preliminary “first 

pass” of the data, and were communicated to Plains within seven to 14 days of the 

ILI.  Thus, Plains would have received notice of the anomalies requiring 

immediate corrections before the Santa Barbara Spill or, at the very latest, on the 

day of the spill. 
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81. Under applicable regulations, the Company was required to shut down 

Line 901 pending resolution of the immediate issues.  Had Defendants complied 

with these regulations, the Santa Barbara Spill would have been avoided entirely. 

82. Plains also violated common industry practice by failing to provide its 

ILI vendor with field data necessary to properly calibrate the ILIs of Lines 901 and 

903.  According to the PHMSA, this practice enables the validation of “the ILI 

tool’s detection capabilities and limitations, the accuracy with which it can locate 

and size anomalies, and the confidence associated with the tool’s measurements.” 

83. Since Plains violated this common industry practice, these ILI survey 

report results do not include corrections to account for the ILI instrument’s “under-

call” of the feature depths determined from the instrument readings.  Available 

data on the type of ILI instrumentation used to perform the 2007 survey indicates 

that the bias (true depth/instrument depth) would be in the range of 1.2 to 1.25 for 

a range of metal losses of 40 percent to 50 percent, meaning that ILIs 

underestimate metal loss by 20 percent to 25 percent. 

84. During the 2008 and 2009 inspections of Plains’ procedures for 

integrity management and operations and maintenance, the PHMSA and the 

California State Fire Marshal found Plains’ data integration process inadequate in 

addressing ILI tool uncertainty.  Because Plains’ integrity management program 

did not specify an approach to handling the tool tolerances, the PHMSA required 
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that Plains’ process for validating ILI results be modified to incorporate the known 

ILI “under-call” bias. 

85. Four years later, during its 2013 inspections of Lines 901 and 903, the 

PHMSA again notified Plains that its integrity management procedures failed to 

address how differences in anomalies as directly measured in the field and as sized 

by the ILI tool would be handled. 

86. After the Santa Barbara Spill, the PHMSA reviewed ILI results from 

the past 10 years for Lines 901 and 903, and determined that the ILI tool “under-

called” the anomalies with respect to general corrosion.  Consistent with research 

available at the time of the inspections, the actual length and width of the 

anomalies as measured during field examinations were greater than those in the ILI 

surveys.  Furthermore, the actual metal loss at the rupture site and other excavation 

areas were more significant than indicated by the ILI surveys. 

87. The PHMSA also found that Lines 901 and 903 were susceptible to 

corrosion because of the shrink wrap sleeve repairs made at some of the pipeline’s 

girth welds.  Shrink-sleeve coating is a process whereby plastic coatings are 

wrapped around the joints of a pipeline’s welded areas.  These plastic coatings are 

prone to disbanding from the pipe, allowing moisture to enter and leading to 

corrosion and environmentally-assisted crack or stressed corrosion cracking. 
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88. Moreover, Line 901 was set in sandy granular soils characteristic of 

coastal beach deposits.  These soils, the coastal environment, the tendency for the 

pipeline to accumulate water inside and outside, and the associated surface 

drainage features could be expected to produce a highly corrosive environment for 

a buried steel pipeline. 

89. These facts, known to Defendants during the relevant period, 

demonstrate that extensive severe external and internal corrosion was allowed to 

develop and persist in Line 901.  This severe external and internal corrosion 

developed in Line 901 before 2007, and existed in an unmitigated condition in 

sections of the pipeline as late as May 2015, when Line 901 finally ruptured. 

90. After the Santa Barbara Spill, Plains also had to suspend operations on 

the nearby Line 903, as its ILI results from the past 10 years revealed similar 

localized and general corrosion characteristics to those found on Line 901.  In fact, 

many of the anomalies found on 903 were consistent with those found at Line 

901’s rupture site. 

2. Excessive Pressure Placed on Weak Pipes 

91. Line 901’s normal maximum operating pressure (“MOP”) is reported 

to be 650 pounds per square inch gauge (“psi”).  Plains has reported that, 

immediately prior to the Santa Barbara Spill, the line pressure was approximately 

700 psi.  According to the Company, this increase in pipeline pressure was 
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associated with the unplanned shut-down of the pump at the Sisquoc pump station 

and the delayed shut-down of the pump at the Las Flores pump station. 

92. In October 1990, a few years after construction of Line 901, the 

pipeline pressure was tested.  Based on results from this test and application of the 

PHMSA’s guideline for Transportation of Hazardous Liquids by Pipeline, 49 

C.F.R. § 195, Line 901 was determined to have a Maximum Allowable Operating 

Pressure (“MAOP”) of 1025 psi. 

93. As provided by the PHMSA’s regulations, application of a validated 

computational analytical model to predict the burst pressure of a pipeline with 58 

percent corrosion results in a burst pressure of 700 psi, equal to the reported Line 

901 unplanned pressure of 700 psi prior to the Santa Barbara Spill.  This level of 

corrosion correlates with the PHMSA’s finding of “approximately 45% of the 

original wall thickness in the area of the pipe that failed on May 19.” Correcting 

this level of corrosion for the ILI’s “under-call” of the measured depth, a wall 

thickness loss of 56 percent results.  Based on ILIs in 2007 and 2012, Plains was 

well aware that Lines 901 and 903 were operating with corrosion that measured as 

high as 67 percent, even before correcting for the “under-call” bias.  Defendants 

also knew that this corrosion was getting worse as time went by, but continued to 

operate the lines at excessive pressure. 
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94. As prescribed by PHMSA regulations, remaining strength calculations 

for corroded pipelines were performed using computational analytical models that 

have been validated with pipeline burst pressure testing results.  The computed 

“limiting pressure” was based on the MAOP of 1,025 psi.  The validated analytical 

models indicated a “limiting corroded wall thickness loss” of approximately 50 

percent for Line 901.  PHMSA regulations for assessment of corroded pipelines 

indicate that, if the pipeline has corrosion features that are equal to or greater than 

50 percent, the features must be properly repaired, the pipeline section must be 

replaced, or the MAOP must be lowered. 

95. According to the Company, the May 2015 ILI survey showed 45 

percent corrosion at the failure location, even before correcting for the “under-call” 

bias and notwithstanding the PHMSA’s finding that the wall at the rupture site had 

corroded to 1/16 of an inch (80 percent corrosion).  When correcting for the ILI 

“under-call” bias, the 45 percent corrosion level exceeds the computed limiting 

corroded wall thickness, which required Plains to immediately repair the line or 

reduce the line’s pressure.  Moreover, three other anomalies near the rupture site 

had wall thickness losses in the range of 54 percent to 74 percent, which similarly 

exceeded the computed limiting corroded wall thickness. 

96. The 2007 ILI corrosion results indicate that, since 2007, significant 

parts of Line 901 would not have satisfied the PHMSA’s Integrity Management-
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Corrosion Control guidelines without either properly repairing the corrosion 

damage, replacing the affected sections of the pipeline, or reducing the MAOP. 

97. Additionally, the 2007 ILI survey report contained a summary of 

information on the properties of Line 901.  The 24-inch diameter pipeline was 

identified as being comprised of DSAW X65 and X60 steels.  Locations of the 

sections of pipeline fabricated with X60 steels were not identified.  If present in 

Line 901, these lower strength steel sections would have even lower burst 

strengths. 

3. Emergency Response Deficiencies 

98. Plains, under Defendants’ direction and on its watch, also failed to 

conform to industry standards because it refused to install an automatic shutoff 

system on Line 901.  Such a system would have automatically shut off the Las 

Flores pump upon detecting changes in pressure and flow, indicative of a problem 

in the pipeline. 

99. Instead, Plains relied on a manual system requiring remote shutdown 

by personnel located in Midland, Texas.  The Midland Control Room’s delay in 

shutting own the Las Flores pump caused pressure surges in the pipeline after the 

Sisquoc pump broke down twice on the morning of the spill.  The Santa Barbara 

County Planner and the Environmental Defense Center stated that the spill would 
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have been less extensive—if not avoided completely—had Plains installed an 

automatic shutoff system on its pipelines. 

100. On June 26, 2015, Dianne Black, Assistant Director of Planning and 

Development Department for Santa Barbara County, confirmed that automatic 

shutoff systems are the safest pipeline shut-off mechanism and that, despite the 

heightened safety, Plains was the only pipeline operator in Santa Barbara County 

that did not utilize automatic shutoff systems.  Ms. Black testified that 

“environmental impacts are reduced, the potential for environmental impacts are 

reduced, with pipeline safety systems that include an automatic shut off system.”  

Though Plains maintained that automatic shut-off systems could be more 

dangerous than manual shut-off systems, Ms. Black opined that, had there been an 

automatic shutoff system on Line 901, there could have been an “earlier reaction 

and it certainly could have reduced the amount of oil spilled.” 

101. Following inspections of Lines 901 and 903 in August, September, 

and October of 2013, the PHMSA warned Plains about its deficient response plans, 

insufficient training, and unsatisfactory record-keeping related to spill response 

preparedness.  Further, in December 2013, Plains received a warning letter from 

the PHMSA, indicating that the Company was in probable violation of several 

HLPSA regulations related to pipeline management and control room 

management, including failure to record pipeline MOP information.  In fact, the 



45 
 

December 2013 warning letter focused on the Control Room Facilities in Midland, 

Texas, which, on the day of the Santa Barbara Spill, failed to detect the rupture in 

Line 901 for several hours. 

102. Additionally, following the Santa Barbara Spill, the PHMSA found, 

among other things, that Plains lacked adequate leak monitoring systems—in direct 

violation of HLPSA regulations—and failed to take appropriate remedial measures 

in response to the pipeline integrity defects that had been previously identified on 

Line 901.  Ultimately, Plains’ response failures and below-industry-standard safety 

systems exacerbated the disastrous Santa Barbara Spill. 

103. Despite representations that Plains’ spill response efforts would be 

immediate and well-coordinated, the response to the Santa Barbara Spill proved to 

be nothing short of a disaster.  Even Plains’ severely delayed initial report of the 

spill demonstrated Defendants’ inept spill response procedures.  Though oil had 

been leaking through a 24-inch diameter pipeline pumping oil at a maximum 

capacity of 2,000 barrels per hour for several hours, Plains initially reported that 

“approximately 500 barrels” of oil was spilled. 

4. Clinging to Aging Pipelines to Support the Bottom Line 

104. When Line 901 ruptured in May 2015, the line was 28 years old and 

had been operating for 25 years, making it one of the Company’s oldest pipelines. 
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105. In order for Plains to properly account for the depreciation of its 

pipelines, Defendants had to accurately estimate the useful life for each pipeline.  

According to the Company’s financial statements filed with the SEC, Lines 901 

and 903 had a maximum useful life of 30 years.  Defendants represented that the 

useful life estimate for Line 901—which the Company was required to continually 

evaluate—was based on various factors including its condition, manufacturing 

specifications, technological advances, and historical data concerning useful lives 

of similar assets.  As detailed herein, Defendants knew that Line 901 was not only 

near the end of its useful life, but also that the pipeline was located in a sandy, 

water-logged coastal environment and rife with serious corrosion problems. 

106. Likewise, Defendants knew that Line 903 was exposed to material 

that caused similar corrosive effects to those noted on Line 901.  In addition, in 

calculating the useful lives of Lines 901 and 903, Plains failed to consider that the 

pipelines were in HCAs.  In fact, Plains used the same 30-year useful life to cover 

the entire All American Pipeline, without regard to whether sections of the pipeline 

traversed an HCA. 

107. If Defendants monitored and evaluated the condition of Lines 901 and 

903, as they publicly represented, Defendants knew—and simply ignored—that the 

pipelines were at or past the end of their useful lives.  Alternatively, Defendants 
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failed to monitor and evaluate the pipelines, in contrast to their representations 

during the relevant period. 

108. Declines in oil production from the All American Pipeline system 

meant that Defendants had little incentive to undertake the massive repairs 

necessary to keep an almost 30-year-old pipeline safe and compliant with 

regulations.  These repairs would have required replacements of large segments of 

pipeline heavily damaged by years of exposure to a highly corrosive, coastal 

environment, rather than the patchwork, one-off fixes that Plains favored.  

Defendants decided that it was not worth the costs required to conduct the 

necessary repairs on the aging and decreasingly useful pipeline. 

109. Lines 901 and 903 transported crude oil from two outer continental 

shelf (“OCS”) fields off the shore of California.  On February 27, 2013, 

Defendants caused the Company to report in its 2012 Form 10-K filed with the 

SEC that “[v]olumes shipped from the OCS are in decline.”  In both its 2013 Form 

10-K, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2014, and its 2014 Form 10-K, filed on 

February 25, 2015, Defendants slightly modified this disclosure to say that 

“[v]olumes shipped from the OCS are expected to decline.” 

110. From a peak of 152,000 average net barrels per day in 1995, oil 

transported on the All American Pipeline declined to 37,000 average net barrels 
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per day in 2014—a 75 percent reduction.  Based on Defendants’ own disclosures, 

volumes and declined significantly and were likely to decline even further. 

111. Despite the fact that Lines 901 and 903 traversed HCAs, Defendants’ 

motivation to repair pipelines with diminishing volumes and life expectancy was 

further dampened by the fact that Plains’ insurance covered clean-up costs from 

any spills.  As Defendant Armstrong reported in the August 5, 2015 conference 

call to investors, while the total loss for the Santa Barbara Spill was a $257 million 

charge, this cost was “offset by an estimated $192 million insurance recovery,” 

which covered, among other things, actual and projected emergency response and 

cleanup costs, natural resource damage, and certain legal fees. 

112. Diminishing volumes on Lines 901 and 903 also meant that any repair 

costs or maintenance capital spent on those lines would have detracted from the 

partnership’s reported adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow—the two 

primary performance metrics Defendants considered when determining the 

Individual Defendants’ bonuses.  Avoiding replacement costs for Lines 901 and 

903 had the desirable effect of increasing profits for the transportation segment, 

which was critical to Plains’ consolidated earnings projections provided to Wall 

Street during the relevant period. 

113. For example, at a May 21, 2015 National Association of Publicly 

Traded Partnerships Annual Investor Conference, the Company stated that the 
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transportation segment “is the leading driver of anticipated 2015 adjusted 

EBITDA growth (i.e., 24% year-over-year growth, or ~$1.2B contribution).”  In 

fact, Defendants boasted that the Company met or exceeded EBITDA guidance 

for the past 13 years (53 consecutive quarters).  By avoiding costs associated with 

replacing Lines 901 and 903, Defendants were able to continue the Company’s 

“meet or beat” record.  As a result, Defendants determined that it was simply not 

worth it to perform the repairs necessary to Lines 901 and 903, which could have 

prevented the Santa Barbara Spill. 

IV. DEFENDANTS CAUSE PLAINS TO FALSELY STATE THAT  
THE COMPANY HAS IMPLEMENTED ENHANCED SAFETY  
AND MAINTENANCE INITIATIVES PRIOR TO THE SANTA 
BARBARA SPILL  

114. Despite the Company’s long history of spills and regulatory 

violations, Defendants made a concerted effort to assure the investing public that 

it had adopted enhanced measures to ensure the integrity of its pipelines and that, 

as a result, the frequency of spills—and the risk of future incidents—had thus 

reduced dramatically.  For instance, in the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on February 27, 2013 (the “2012 

10-K”), Plains highlighted the measures the Company had allegedly taken in 

response to the 2010 Consent Decree.  The 2012 10-K reassured investors that 

“pipeline integrity management” was the Company’s “primary operational focus,” 

and that Plains had “implemented programs intended to maintain the integrity of 
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[its] assets, with a focus on risk reduction through testing, enhanced corrosion 

control, leak detection, and damage prevention.” 

115. Defendants further caused the Company to state that its “pipelines are 

in substantial compliance with [applicable regulations]” and that the Company’s 

“integrity management program” included measures that well beyond those legal 

requirements, with “several internal programs designed to prevent incidents and ... 

activities such as automating valves and replacing river crossings.” 

116. During the relevant period, Defendant Armstrong led the effort to 

convince the public that Plains’ maintenance and corrosion control problems were 

in the past, that Plains went above and beyond applicable regulations when it came 

to safety and maintenance, that the risk of a catastrophic spill was extremely low, 

and that the Company was well-prepared should a spill occur.  For example, Mr. 

Armstrong dedicated large portions of a June 5, 2014 Investor Day conference to 

convincing investors that “safety is a core value” at Plains and that the Company 

“foster[s] a culture that emphasizes operational excellence, asset integrity & 

safety.” 

117. During his presentation, the top three items Mr. Armstrong 

highlighted as demonstrating Plains’ “Commitment to Operational Excellence” 

were “Safety,” “Pipeline Integrity Management,” and “Incident Response 

Preparation.”  Mr. Armstrong was emphatic that Plains does “a lot and I mean a 
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tremendous amount that will never be appreciated by the public” when it comes to 

safety and spill prevention, assuring the public that the Company is “committed to 

operational excellence in safety, pipeline integrity management, and responding to 

incidents in the unfortunate development that they do occur.” 

118. Defendants have also confirmed that the Company’s executive 

officers were directly involved in and responsible for the Company’s safety, 

pipeline integrity management, and incident response preparation.  For example, 

Defendants caused Plains to state on its website during the relevant period that the 

Company’s Environmental, Health, and Safety Program “is successful because it is 

developed, supported and carried out by our employees, from the senior 

management team down to the newest hire.” 

119. The Company’s website also represented that “Plains All American is 

committed to public safety, protection of the environment and operation of our 

facilities in a prudent and safe manner” and that Defendants “believe that all of 

[the Company’s] pipelines have been constructed and maintained in all material 

respects in accordance with applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations, 

standards proscribed by the API and accepted industry practice.” 

120. Defendants further caused the Company to state that it had “devote[d] 

substantial resources to comply with [government]-mandated pipeline integrity 

rules,” including “requirements for the establishment of pipeline integrity 
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management programs and for protection of ‘high consequence areas’”—such as 

the Santa Barbara coastline abutting Line 901 and the state parks, national forest, 

and rivers traversing Line 903—“where a pipeline leak or rupture could product 

significant adverse consequences.  According to Defendants, Plains had 

“developed and implemented certain pipeline integrity measures that go beyond 

[its] regulatory mandate.” 

121. Defendants also falsely represented that Plains was well-positioned to 

minimize the impact of spills, assuring investors that, in the event any leak was 

detected, Plains’ response would be “immediate,” well-coordinated with public 

officials, and comprehensive so as to minimize any environmental impact.  In 

reality, Plains’ response plans were either slipshod or nonexistent and, with respect 

to Lines 901 and 903, violated PHMSA regulations. 

122. In fact, federal regulators have been documenting violations by Plains 

for years, noting the Company’s substandard records on emergency training and 

how it would protect pristine coastline in the event of a spill.  The PHMSA, for 

instance, noted that Plains failed to properly document pressure tests on tanks and 

failed to keep adequate records on how it would prevent spills in sensitive 

environmental areas, or respond if such a spill did occur.  While not all of the 

violations noted by the PHMSA resulted in fines against Plains, a spokeswoman 

for the agency stated that “all safety related issues matter because they reflect the 



53 
 

overall safety culture of an organization.”  Plains’ abysmal safety record, therefore, 

reflects the insubstantial focus on safety promoted by Defendants. 

123. Nevertheless, Plains has consistently touted that it supports its 

“commitment to safe and environmentally-responsible operations through extensive 

and ongoing training, as well as investment in any necessary equipment, systems, 

processes or other resources.”  As part of this alleged commitment, Plains’ website 

stresses that the Company “diligently strives to comply with applicable 

environmental, health and safety rules, laws and regulations.”  The record 

demonstrates that these assertions are no more than meaningless tautologies.  

Defendants have led the Company on a fast and furious expansion of its operations 

throughout North America, without regard to the way that these acquisitions have 

overburdened the Company. 

V. DEFENDANTS IGNORED RED FLAGS PRIOR TO THE 
SANTA BARBARA SPILL       

124. The enhanced safety protocols Defendants purportedly instituted in 

Santa Barbara were entirely illusory—nothing more than false promises used by 

Defendants to cover up the fact that Plains, under its direction and on its watch, 

and severely disregarded its pipeline integrity and maintenance obligations and that 

it was continuing to operate pipelines, like Lines 901 and 903, that should have 

been taken out of operation. 
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125. According to data compiled by the PHMSA, from 2006 until the time 

of the Santa Barbara Spill, more than 20 federal enforcement actions had been 

initiated against Plains, mostly involving corrosion control and maintenance 

problems. 

126. Indeed, inspections performed on Line 901 in June 2007 and July 

2012 had demonstrated a worsening of pipeline integrity.  In 2007, there were 13 

anomalies identified that related to corrosion of Line 901, and the 2012 inspection 

identified 41 such anomalies. 

127. As discussed herein, the PHMSA warned Plains, after conducting 

inspections in August, September, and October 2013, that the Company had 

committed “probable violations” of the pipeline safety regulations governing 

“pipeline integrity in high consequence areas” like those through which Lines 901 

and 903 ran.  Among other things, the PHMSA found that Plains failed to take 

additional preventative and mitigative measures in HCAs without any evidence of 

its justification for its failure to implement the required measures. 

128. The PHMSA also noted that inspection surveys conducted in 2013 

and 2014 for different segments of Line 903 appeared inconsistent.  According to 

the PHMSA, these inconsistencies were a clear red flag that should have prompted 

immediate investigation by the Company. 
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129. Furthermore, the PHMSA noted that the results of Plains’ own May 5, 

2015 inspection survey revealed four areas on Line 901 with pipe anomalies that 

required “immediate investigation and remediation” under relevant regulations and 

Plains’ own integrity management plan.  In addition, the examination and 

measurements of three of these areas by the PHMSA indicated “extensive external 

corrosion.” 

130. This reckless inattention to safety and maintenance issues reached its 

climax in Santa Barbara. 

131. If it were not for Defendants’ lack of oversight, the Santa Barbara 

Spill likely could have been prevented.  Richard B. Kuprewicz, president of 

pipeline consulting firm Accufacts Inc., stresses that maintaining pipelines is not 

complicated.  In fact, he told The L.A. Times:  “In 40 years of investigating pipeline 

incidents, I haven’t seen one that wasn’t preventable.  There are no such thing as 

accidents.” 

VI. THE DISASTROUS SANTA BARBARA SPILL OCCURS 
ON DEFENDANTS’ WATCH      

A. Overview of the Santa Barbara Spill 

132. On the morning of May 19, 2015, Line 901 ruptured, spewing oil 

down a storm drain and into the Pacific Ocean for several hours before Defendants 

caused Plains to shut off the pipeline.  The broken pipeline discharged nearly 

150,000 gallons of crude oil and created two slicks that spanned about 9 miles. 
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133. The following day, the Associated Press reported that California 

Governor Jerry Brown had declared a state of emergency in Santa Barbara County 

over the coastal oil spill in order to free up emergency state funding and resources 

to help in the cleanup efforts.  According to the article, Plains initially estimated 

that only 21,000 gallons of oil, and stated that, under the worst-case scenario, up to 

105,000 gallons of crude leaked in the spill. 

134. By the end of May 2015, several United States Senators were publicly 

calling into question the Company’s (and, in turn, Defendants’) response to the 

Santa Barbara Spill.  On May 29, 2015, the Associated Press published another 

article about the incident, which revealed that Senators Barbara Boxer and Dianne 

Feinstein of California had sent a letter to the PHMSA, calling the response to the 

spill “insufficient.” The senators “questioned why the line lacked an automatic 

shut-off valve and whether some workers were left on the sidelines while the lead 

spread.”  The letter, also signed by Massachusetts Senator Edward J. Markey, also 

expressed concern that “insufficient preparation may have slowed down the 

response effort.” 

135. In response, Plains wrote that it was a “competent and experienced 

operator,” which “trained regularly for situations such as [the Santa Barbara Spill], 

hoping that they will never happen.  However, in a real event, no one is fully 

satisfied with the speed of response.”  Plains claimed that, “[u]pon confirming the 
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release, [the Company] immediately activated [its] emergency response plan and 

marshaled critical resources to the scene.” 

136. As the senators pointed out, however, it took Plains at least 90 

minutes after the spill to notify the National Response Center, provoking concern 

that the Company “may not have detected this spill or reported it to federal 

officials as quickly as possible, and that these delays could have exacerbated the 

extent of the damage to the environment.” 

137. Initially, the oil covered the beach and rocks just below the failed pipe 

but, once it reached the water, the oil spread quickly, travelling for miles out to sea.  

The oil fouled beaches for miles in each direction, spreading along the shoreline, 

and washed up on nearby properties. 

138. As of June 8, 2015, the spill had impacted up to 50 miles of shoreline 

along the Central Coast.  By June 22, 2015, Defendants confirmed that oil had 

washed up in identifiable tarballs on Manhattan Beach—130 miles south of Santa 

Barbara.  Subsequently, tarballs matching Plains oil washed up on beaches in 

Orange County, more than 160 miles from the site of the Santa Barbara Spill. 

139. Defendants worked hard to conceal the scope of the problem leading 

various Santa Barbara County officials to express concern that “information was 

controlled, not transparent and definitely not responsive.”  At a public hearing on 

June 26, 2015, those officials expressed “ongoing concerns about the role of the 
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responsible party, in this case Plains, and the dynamics that allowed that party to 

influence virtually every aspect of response and communication often contrary to 

the local agencies’ values and practices.” 

B. Defendants’ Inadequate Response to the Santa Barbara Spill 

140. Not only had Defendants’ actions and/or inactions resulted in the 

disastrous Santa Barbara Spill, but also Defendants’ initial response to the Santa 

Barbara spill was entirely inadequate, and only served to intensify the damage to 

the environmentally-sensitive coastline. 

141. State law required the Company to report the spill to the federal 

National Response Center within 30 minutes of detection, and Plains’ internal 

policies required such notification “at the earliest practicable moment,” boasting 

that it should take no more than fifteen minutes to discover a release and shut down 

the flow. 

142. Nevertheless, Plains did not report the spill to the National Response 

Center for several hours after it had been discovered.  In fact, the National 

Response Center was notified of the spill by the Santa Barbara County Fire 

Department nearly two-and-a-half hours before Plains formally informed the 

agency, after a 911 call was placed to the fire department. 

143. In the days immediately following the rupture of Line 901, 

Defendants attempted to downplay and conceal the severity of the oil spill.  Plains 
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officials reported that their own analysis of a “worst case” scenario for the spill, 

which was based on the typical flow rate of oil and the elevation of the pipeline, 

showed that as many as 105,000 gallons in total could have been released from 

Line 901, with only 21,100 gallons of crude oil—at most—flowing into the Pacific 

Ocean. 

144. Subsequently, on May 26, 2015, Plains filed a Form 8-K with the 

SEC, which described the spill and estimated that “the amount of released crude oil 

could be as high as approximately 2,400 barrels” or 101,000 gallons—a figure 

reflecting a 4,000-gallon reduction from the initial estimates Defendants had 

provided to the media. 

145. It was not until August 2015, in an appendix to a presentation released 

along with the Company’s second-quarter financial report, that Plains admitted that 

the leak could have been more severe than initially estimated.  Plains revised its 

estimate of the damage upwards by approximately 41 percent, stating that roughly 

3,400 barrels—143,000 gallons—of crude oil may have been discharged during the 

Santa Barbara Spill. 

146. Significantly, this was not the first time that Plains, under 

Defendants’ direction and on their watch, had engaged in this type of deception.  

Despite applicable regulations requiring the Company to provide reasonable 

estimates of spill volumes when a spill may result in property damage exceeding 
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$50,000 or the pollution of any body of water, Plains has demonstrated a pattern 

and practice of understating spill volumes, only to later revise them upward.  For 

example: 

 Plains’ Pocahontas Station spilled crude oil into Silver Creek, a high 
consequence area near a drinking water reservoir in Illinois.  
According to a Corrective Action Order issued by the PHMSA, Plains 
provided an estimated release of “0 barrels” and an “unknown value” 
for spillage into the creek on the day of the spill.  The actual spill size 
was later corrected to 4,200 gallons. 

 
 On December 24, 2006, Plains’ High Island Pipeline ruptured and 

spilled crude oil into the Gulf of Mexico.  On the day of the spill, 
Plains provided an estimated release of 20,000 gallons. The actual 
spill size was 36,540 gallons—more than 80 percent larger than the 
reported spill. 

 
 On April 29, 2011, the Rainbow Pipeline, a 45-year-old Plains 

pipeline, ruptured in Alberta, Canada, resulting in the worst oil spill in 
that area in 36 years. On the day of the spill, Plains reported to the 
Canadian authorities that the pipeline released an estimated 260,400 
gallons.  The actual spill size was 1,176,000 gallons—four and a half 
times larger than Plains’ initial reports. 

 
147. The misrepresentation of the volume of the Santa Barbara Spill was 

merely a continuation of Plains’ pattern of regulatory violations and rampant 

public misstatements.  On August 5, 2015, Defendants caused the Company to 

disclose that the actual spill size was 42,000 gallons higher than previously 

estimated because: 

In the second half of June we completed the process of emptying and 
purging Line 901, which resulted in removal of approximately 26,000 
barrels of crude oil from the line.  This activity provided additional data to 
assess the reasonableness of our worst case estimate of 2,400 barrels based 
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on the “drain-down” methodology. 
 
148. This statement is fraught with inconsistencies, as Defendants sought to 

conceal their long-held knowledge of spill underestimation from the public.  

Indeed, the “purge” was completed long before the “second half of June.”  As 

discussed herein, in May 2015, the PHMSA ordered Plains to empty and purge the 

10.6 miles of affected pipeline (Line 901) and fill it with inert gas as soon as 

applicable “but no longer than 10 days after the receipt of this order.”  On the 

website Defendants created to track the spill response, 

www.plainsline901response.com, Plains stated that “[o]n May 28, [2015,] under the 

oversight of PHMSA and the Unified Command, excavation and removal of the 

affected section of pipe was completed.”  Defendant Armstrong himself 

communicated to members of Congress on June 19, 2015 that “the affected pipe 

was excavated, placed in a box, sealed and transported to a third-party laboratory 

for evaluation and testing.” 

149. Documents obtained from government sources confirm that 

Defendants had, as required by the PHMSA, excavated, purged, and removed the 

failed pipe for “mechanical and metallurgical testing and failure analysis” by May 

28, 2015—well before the second half of June.  Thus, for at least two months, 

Defendants actively concealed their knowledge of the underestimation of the 

amount of oil released during the Santa Barbara Spill. 
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150. Following the Santa Barbara Spill, Defendants caused Plains to 

communicate frequently about the disaster via multiple channels: 

 On June 4, 2015, Defendants caused the Company to host an investor 
day where Defendant Armstrong discussed the Santa Barbara Spill, 
presented on the Company’s history of incidents and release volumes, 
and encouraged investors to visit the Company website to obtain 
“daily updates” on the spill; 

 
 On June 10, 2015, as reflected in Plains’ 8-K, filed with the SEC on 

June 11, 2015, Plains representatives spoke at a media briefing and 
answered reporters’ questions regarding the Santa Barbara Spill; 

 
 On June 29, July 6, and July 13, 2015, Defendants posted incident 

updates on the www.plainsline901response.com website; 
 
 Defendants posted “Recovery Q&As” on the 

www.plainsline901response.com website on June 17, 2015, 
discussing Plains’ safety record, recovery completion, the affected 
pipeline, and how oil traveled to the ocean; 

 
 Along with other “daily updates,” Defendants posted the June 4, 2015 

investor day presentation and Defendant Armstrong’s letters to 
members of Congress on the www.plainsline901response.com 
website; and 

 
 Plains representatives engaged in numerous conversations with the 

press concerning the Santa Barbara Spill between May 28, 2015 and 
August 5, 2015. 

 
151. Under Defendants’ direction and on their watch, Plains was, at all 

times in discussing the spill and its effects, obligated to disclose that the true size 

of the Santa Barbara Spill was significantly larger than represented and/or correct 

its prior misstatements regarding the size of the spill. 
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152. Additionally, as required by PHMSA guidelines for pipelines located 

in HCAs, the spill response plan for Lines 901 and 903 contains a summary of 

“Risk and Hazard Analysis” performed by Plains to evaluate the likelihood and 

consequences of a major breach in the All American Pipeline. The spill response 

plan determined that the maximum discharge from a spill, or the “Worst Case 

Discharge,” was 167,000 gallons (3,400 barrels)—1,000 barrels more than 

originally reported and much closer to the true amount of oil spilled during and 

following the Santa Barbara Spill, as disclosed on August 5, 2015. 

153. Further, for the worst case spill volume, the risk analysis assumes “10 

minutes total time to detect rupture and 5 minutes to shutdown pipeline.” On the 

day of the Santa Barbara Spill, Plains’ computer monitoring system in its control 

room in Midland, Texas failed to detect the rupture for hours.  In fact, it was not 

until approximately 1:30 p.m.—more than two hours after the rupture—that Plains 

employees sought to stanch the gushing flow of oil using a single shovel to 

construct “a makeshift berm.” 

154. Moreover, particularly due to Plains’ lackluster response, the oil was 

able to spread out in waves over approximately nine miles of the scenic Santa 

Barbara coast.  Even when the beaches begin to look clean again, experts know 

that there is oil that has sunk into the sediments, which will be stirred up again 
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and come back to shore when a large storm hits.  To the extent this occurs, Santa 

Barbara officials will ensure that Plains is held responsible for further damage. 

C. As a Result of the Santa Barbara Spill, 
the PHMSA Issues Corrective Action Orders 

155. On May 21, 2015, the PHMSA issued a Corrective Action Order (the 

“May 21 CAO”), requiring Plains to take corrective actions with respect to Line 

901 in order to protect the public, property, and environment from potential 

hazards caused by the Santa Barbara Spill. 

156. The May 21 CAO noted certain preliminary findings concerning the 

spill, including that Line 901 had been inspected by Plains on May 5, 2015 as part 

of a complete in-line inspection to collect data and evaluate the integrity of the 

pipeline.  The May 21 CAO recognized that Plains had not yet received a formal 

report regarding that inspection, but noted that previous inspections performed on 

Line 901 in June 2007 and July 2012 had demonstrated a worsening of pipeline 

integrity.  The May 21 CAO required Plains to take immediate corrective actions, 

including shutting down and reviewing the line, testing the line, developing a 

remedial plan, performing a review of the Company’s emergency response plan 

and training, and identifying all areas of Line 901 that used shrink wrap sleeve 

coating. 

157. On June 3, 2015, the PHMSA issued an amended Corrective Action 

Order (the “June 3 CAO”), which revealed that there was “extensive external 
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corrosion” on Line 901, as well as identifying “extensive corrosion” and other 

deficiencies on adjoining Line 903.  The June 3 CAO required Plains to take 

additional corrective actions, including shutting down Line 903.  The PHMSA 

noted that the results of Plains’ own May 5, 2015 inspection survey revealed four 

areas on Line 901 with pipe anomalies that required “immediate investigation and 

remediation” under relevant regulations and Plains’ own integrity management 

plan. 

158. The June 3 CAO also cited reports of third-party metallurgists, which 

estimated that corrosion at the failure site had degraded the wall thickness to an 

estimated 1/16 of an inch.  This amounts to a reduction of over 80 percent of the 

original thickness. 

159. On September 11, 2015, the PHMSA sent Plains a Notice of Probable 

Violation and Proposed Compliance Order (the “September 11 Compliance 

Order”), which was based on violations found during the PHMSA’s August 2013, 

September 2013, and October 2013 inspections of Lines 901 and 903.  The 

September 11 Compliance Order outlined several “probable violations of the 

Pipeline Safety Regulations, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations.” 

160. Specifically, the September 11 Compliance Order determined that 

Plains had violated 49 C.F.R. § 195.310(a) because “Plains did not maintain 

adequate documentation of pressure tests as part of its baseline assessment plan for 
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its seven (7) breakout tanks at Pentland Station in Kern County, California.”  

During the inspections on which the September 11 Compliance Order was 

founded, Plains was unable to “present evidence of past pressure tests performed 

on the breakout tanks to the inspection team.”  Although Plains later provided the 

PHMSA with records of tests from 1995, those “documents did not demonstrate 

that the pressure tests were performed on the tanks in accordance with” applicable 

law. 

161. The September 11 Compliance order also noted two probable 

violations of 49 C.F.R. § 195.452, which governs “[p]ipeline integrity management 

in high consequence areas.” 

162. First, Plains could provide no written evidence, during or after the 

inspections, that it had undertaken the required preventive and mitigative 

evaluations prior to or during 2013 for segments of Line 903 that run through 

HCAs.  Specifically: 

Plains did not maintain adequate documentation of its preventive and 
mitigative evaluations prior to the 2013 calendar year for “Sisquoc to 
Pentland” and “Pentland to Emidio” pipeline segments.  A Plains 
representative eventually stated in an email, dated March 25, 2014, that the 
company was unable to locate the 2013 preventive and mitigative 
evaluations for those pipeline segments. 
 

163. Second, the September 11 Compliance Order found that Plains failed 

to take additional preventive and mitigative measures in HCAs, and was unable to 

show evidence that it had even considered such measures or provide a justification 
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for the failure to implement them, in violation of applicable law. According to the 

September 11 Compliance Order: 

For High Consequence Areas (HCAs) where Plains does not take additional 
preventive and mitigative (P&M) measures, Plains did not adequately 
document its consideration of P&M measures or its justification for not 
implementing these measures.  The inspection team found a lack of 
documentation to demonstrate the consideration and decision-making 
process of potential P&M measures. 
 

164. The September 11 Compliance Order further found that Plains had 

violated 49 C.FR. § 195.403, which governs emergency response training, because 

Plains could produce no documentation to demonstrate the required annual review 

of response training or the “decision-making process for changes made to its 

program.”  Additionally, Plains “did not have adequate documentation to 

demonstrate that supervisors maintained a thorough knowledge of that portion of 

the emergency response procedures established under § 195.402 for which they are 

responsible to ensure compliance.” 

165. Finally, the September 11 Compliance Order found that Plains had 

violated the record-keeping procedures mandated by 49 C.F.R. § 195.507 because 

“Plains did not document which qualified contractors performed each covered task 

on a daily basis.  Each project file had a written list of all qualified individuals, but 

there was no written documentation to show who performed each task on a day-to-

day basis.” 
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166. Plains was aware of the probable violations identified in the 

September 11 Compliance Order at the time of the 2013 inspections, or shortly 

thereafter, as the items detailed therein “were discovered in these 2013 inspections, 

and include consideration of supporting documentation provided by Plains in 

2014.” 

167. In addition to the probable violations identified by the PHMSA, the 

September 11 Compliance Order enumerated a series of “Additional Areas of 

Safety Concern.”  While these concerns did not rise to the level of explicit 

regulatory violations, the PHMSA recommended that Plains address the issues “to 

improve the level of safety on [its] pipeline system.” 

168. First, “Plains had unclear procedures and documentation of its 

decision making process for addressing when in-line inspection (ILI) tool run data 

indicates anomalous conditions. Specifically, the Plains procedures did not appear 

to fully discuss or document how tool tolerance was addressed or how measured 

anomalies that deviated significantly from the size predicted by the tool were 

addressed.” 

169. Second, “Plains had incomplete documentation of its Management of 

Change (MOC) for a pressure reduction.  The inspection team found an incomplete 

MOC form ... dated January 12, 2012.  A pressure reduction was to be taken, but 

the current and proposed pressure set points were inadequately documented.” 
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170. Third, “Plains is responsible for educating emergency response 

officials as part of its Public Awareness Program. A review of Plains’ Emergency 

Response Contact Reports for local fire and sheriff departments on June 26, 2013 

indicated evidence of a lack of familiarity with the California One-Call System.  

Plains did not provide any documentation of follow-up where Plains educated 

emergency response officials on the One-Call System.” 

171. On November 12, 2015, the PHMSA sent the Company Amendment 

No. 2 to the May 21 CAO (the “November 12 CAO”), which contained additional 

findings and required Plains to take additional corrective actions with respect to 

Lines 901 and 903.  The additional findings arising from the PHMSA’s 

investigation of the Santa Barbara Spill included, inter alia, the following: 

 The PHMSA’s independent review of ILI tool surveys for Lines 901 
and 903 over the past 10 years found that anomalies were “under-
called” in areas of general corrosion.  Direct field examination and 
measurements of the anomalies revealed that the actual length and 
width of the anomalies were greater than the measurements predicted 
by the ILI tool.  Specifically, on Line 901, direct measurement of the 
metal loss anomaly at the failure site, as well as other anomalies 
excavated in 2015, showed that these anomalies were generally more 
significant than the ILI results indicated they would be. 

 
 Common practice in the pipeline industry is to provide the ILI vendor 

with field data from direct investigation of anomalies to validate the 
ILI tool’s detection capabilities and limitations, the accuracy with 
which it can locate and size anomalies, and the confidence associated 
with the tool’s measurements.  After excavating, investigating, 
characterizing, and measuring anomalies from the results of various 
ILI surveys, Plains did not share its actual field findings with the ILI 
vendor so that it could enhance its interpretation of the ILI data. 
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 The PHMSA’s independent review of ILI surveys from the past 10 

years shows that Line 903 has similar corrosion characteristics to 
those found on Line 901, and a number of the anomalies had 
characteristics consistent with the failure site.  Specifically, Line 903 
has both localized and larger or “general” areas of external corrosion. 

 
 Due to the number of corrosion-caused anomalies identified on Line 

903 in past ILI surveys, it does not appear that Plains has an effective 
corrosion control program and the pipe can be expected to have 
degraded (lost metal due to corrosion) since the last ILI survey.  
Furthermore, leaving crude oil in Line 903 is likely to result in an 
increased potential for internal corrosion as the inhibitor loses its 
effectiveness.  The crude oil in Line 903 needs to be removed from 
the pipeline and the line purged with an inert gas in order to prevent 
further degradation of the pipeline, and eliminate the potential harm it 
poses from an unintended release. 

 
 Stress corrosion cracking (SCC) or environmentally-assisted cracking 

can be induced on a pipeline from the combined influence of tensile 
stress and a corrosive medium.  SCC is commonly associated with 
disbonded coatings, which may prevent the cathodic protection 
current used for corrosion control from reaching the pipe surface and 
allow an SCC-susceptible environment to form between the pipe and 
the coating.  Tape coatings and shrink wrap sleeves are both 
susceptible to disbondment and may lead to corrosion and possibly 
environmentally-assisted cracking or SCC.  Line 903 has shrink wrap 
sleeves on the girth welds, which could contribute to SCC. 

 
172. In light of these findings, and the PHMSA’s conclusion that “a failure 

to issue this Order expeditiously to require immediate corrective action would 

result in the likelihood of serious harm to life, property, or the environment,” 

Plains was required to immediately take steps to empty, purge, and shut down Line 

903.  Plains was also required to prove a purge plan that included the 
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“[i]dentification and remediation of any anomalies with characteristics similar to 

the Line 901 failure location.” 

173. Plains was also ordered to provide its ILI vendor “with the field 

measured data and request that the ILI vendor use the field data to re-evaluate the 

ILI results in order to identify any additional anomalies that must be remediated 

per § 195.452(h) or that have characteristics similar to the Line 901 failure 

location.” 

174. Finally, Plains was ordered to provide additional training and 

“enhanced preventive and mitigative measures that Plains will implement to 

monitor the pipeline during the purge activity.” 

D. As a Result of the Santa Barbara Spill, Plains is Severely 
Damaged and Ultimately Indicted on Criminal Charges 

1. Monetary Costs of Addressing the Spill 

175. As of June 2015, less than a month after Line 901 ruptured, a Plains 

official estimated that the costs of cleaning up the Santa Barbara Spill had already 

reached $62 million.  By August 2015, the Company had spent approximately 

$100 million cleaning up the Santa Barbara Spill. 

176. Plains incurred costs of approximately $3 million a day to stop the oil 

leak and remediate the effects of the Santa Barbara Spill, and officers of Plains 

estimated that the total cost of addressing the spill could be as high as $257 

million. 
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177. In August 2015, Plains disclosed for the first time that the Company’s 

insurance would not cover all of the costs associated with the spill, and further 

made clear that the estimated $257 million cost to the Company did not include 

any lost revenue associated with the shutdown of Lined 901 and 903. 

2. The Company Has Been Criminally Charged 

178. In addition to these financial costs, in the wake of the Santa Barbara 

Spill, the California Attorney General’s Office announced that it was conducting a 

criminal and civil investigation of the spill, in conjunction with the Santa Barbara 

District Attorney. 

179. On May 16, 2016, after nearly a year of reviewing evidence and 

hearing from dozens of witnesses, a Santa Barbara County Grand Jury indicted 

Plains on 46 charges, including four felony charges of knowingly discharging a 

pollutant into state waters and 42 misdemeanor charges.  James Buchanan 

(“Buchanan”), an Environmental & Regulatory Compliance Specialist employed 

by Plains, was also indicted on some of the charges. 

180. The misdemeanor charges included in the indictment included several 

violations of the Fish and Game Code, as well as violations related to Plains’ 

failure to immediately notify proper authorities. 

181. As a result of the criminal indictment, Plains faces up to $2.8 million 

in fines, plus additional costs and penalties. 
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182. Further, the criminal indictment clearly evidences that despite the 

requirements imposed by the Partnership Agreement that Plains GP only take 

actions that it reasonably believes “to be in, or not inconsistent with, the best 

interests of [Plains],” Plains GP unnecessarily caused the Company to be run in an 

illegal fashion, which constitutes a direct breach of the Partnership Agreement in 

and of itself. 

3. The Company Faces Additional Costly 
Litigation Related to the Spill 

183. The Company has also become the subject of additional costly civil 

litigation stemming from the false and misleading statements Defendants caused it 

to make during the months leading up to the Santa Barbara Spill. 

184. For instance, on February 27, 2015, Plains filed a prospectus in 

connection with a secondary offering of 21,000,000 Plains Common Units, which 

was made effective pursuant to a Registration Statement filed on Form S-3 with the 

SEC on September 27, 2012 (the “February 2015 Offering Materials”). The 

February 2015 Offering Materials incorporated by reference the Company’s 2014 

Annual Report filed with the SEC on Form 10-K on February 25, 2015, and made 

numerous representations concerning the Company’s safety efforts and regulatory 

compliance.  Among other things, the February 2015 Offering Materials claimed 

that Plains fully complied with federal regulations governing its business, 



74 
 

including rules governing the monitoring and maintenance of its pipelines and the 

safety and integrity of those pipelines. 

185. Specifically, the Company reported that it spent $107 million in 2014 

in connection with costs associated with the “inspection, testing and correction of 

identified anomalies” required by federal law and the 2002 and 2006 amendments 

to the HLSPA that “require transportation pipeline operators to implement integrity 

management programs, including more frequent inspections, correction of 

identified anomalies and other measures to insure pipeline safety in ‘high 

consequence areas.’”  Plains stated that its “pipelines are in substantial 

compliance” with these requirements. 

186. Further, the Company represented that “[i]n addition to required 

activities, our integrity management program includes several voluntary, multi-

year initiatives designed to prevent incidents,” reporting that costs incurred for 

such activities were approximately $21 million in 2014.  Plains also represented 

that it maintained state-of-the-art oil spill response procedures that ensured that, if 

such an incident were to occur, the Company would be able to effectively and 

efficiently limit any potential damage. 

187. The Company also reported that it went above and beyond the 

requirements of these federal regulations by maintaining “an internal review 

process” to “examine[] various aspects of its pipeline and gathering systems that 
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are not subject to the DOT pipeline integrity management mandate” and to “review 

the surrounding environment, condition and operating history of these pipeline and 

gathering assets to determine if such assets warrant additional investment or 

replacement.” 

188. According to the Company, pursuant to this “internal review process,” 

it can and frequently does determine “as a result of our own initiatives” “to spend 

substantial sums to ensure the integrity of and upgrade our pipeline systems and, in 

some cases ... take pipelines out of service if we believe the cost of upgrades will 

exceed the value of the pipelines.” 

189. The Company further represented that it “devote[d] substantial 

resources to comply with [Department of Transportation]-mandated pipeline 

integrity rules,” including rules under the HLPSA which included certain pipelines 

that were not previously subject to regulation.  Under those regulations, Plains was 

required to establish “pipeline integrity management programs” and programs for 

“protection of ‘high consequence areas’ where a pipeline leak or rupture could 

produce significant adverse consequences.”  According to the Company, it had 

“developed and implemented certain pipeline integrity measures that go beyond 

[the] regulatory mandate.”  In addition to the measures the Company represented it 

undertook to comply with federal law, Plains also represented that its businesses’ 

“primary operational” focus was on pipeline integrity maintenance and monitoring. 
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190. As described herein, the offering materials disseminated in connection 

with both the October 2013 and February 2015 Plains offerings contained untrue 

statements of material fact, omitted facts necessary to make the statements made in 

the offering documents not misleading, and failed to disclose material facts. 

191. The offering materials contained statements concerning the 

Company’s compliance with rules and regulations governing its pipeline 

maintenance, monitoring, and spill response procedures.  Those statements were 

materially false and misleading because, as would later be revealed, the 

Company’s pipelines, and its monitoring and maintenance of those pipelines, was 

woefully inadequate and violated federal law. 

192. Accordingly, as a result of these and other material 

misrepresentations, the Company has not only come under fire from federal 

regulators, but has also become the subject of numerous class action lawsuits 

brought by purchasers of Plains’ securities. 

193. In particular, numerous securities class actions have been filed and 

consolidated in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas 

(the “Securities Class Action”), on behalf of investors who purchased securities 

issued by Plains and Plains GP, alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, SEC Rule 10b-5, and Sections 11, 12(a), and 

15 of the Securities Act of 1933. 
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194. Finally, on June 1, 2015, the Company likewise became the subject of 

a separate class action lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the 

Central District of California (the “Business Class Action”) brought on behalf of 

two proposed classes:  (1) a Commercial Fishery Class; and (2) a Natural 

Resources-Based Businesses Class.  The Commercial Fishery Class is defined as 

all persons who derive a significant portion of their income through the direct 

harvest of fish, shellfish, or other sea life in the marine waters adjacent to Santa 

Barbara County.  The Natural Resources-Based Businesses Class is defined as all 

persons who derive a significant portion of their income from the operation of a 

business or businesses in Santa Barbara County, where such businesses are 

dependent upon the coastal and marine natural resources of that county, and that 

have lost profits as a result of the Line 901 oil spill. 

195. Thus, as a result of Defendants’ misconduct (including, in particular, 

Plains GP’s breaches of the Partnership Agreement), the Company has not only 

been subjected to hundreds of millions of dollars in cleanup costs and fines, but 

also has been criminally indicted, and faces massive civil exposures. 

DERIVATIVE & DEMAND FUTILITY ALLEGATIONS 

196. Plaintiff brings this action derivatively in the right and for the benefit 

of Plains to redress injuries suffered, and to be suffered, by Plains as a result of 

Defendants’ breaches of fiduciary duties by virtue of the wrongs alleged herein and 
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the misconduct of the other defendants.  The claims herein arise from an actual or 

proposed act or omission involving negligence, default, breach of duty, and/or 

breach of trust by directors and/or former directors of Plains, as well as the 

misconduct of other defendants.  Plains is named as a nominal defendant solely in 

a derivative capacity.  Plaintiff seeks to assert solely causes of action vested in 

Plains and seek relief solely on behalf of Plains.  Plaintiff has no individual 

standing to pursue the claims herein as direct claims against any of the Defendants. 

197. Plaintiff will adequately and fairly represent the interests of Plains in 

enforcing and prosecuting its rights. 

198. Plaintiff has owned Plains units at all relevant times, and continues to 

own such securities at this time. 

199. Prosecution of this action, independent of the Plains Board of 

Directors, is in the best interests of the Company. 

200. This action is not a collusive action to confer jurisdiction that the 

Court would otherwise lack, and is not being used by Plaintiff to gain any personal 

advantage, nor does Plaintiff maintain any personal agenda other than seeking to 

correct the wrongs that have been done to the Company.  Plaintiff has not received, 

been promised, or offered, and will not accept, any form of compensation, directly 

or indirectly, for prosecuting or serving as a representative party in this action, 
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except for such fees or other payments, including attorneys’ fees, as the Court 

expressly approves to be paid to Plaintiff or on Plaintiff’s behalf. 

201. To this end, Plaintiff has taken steps to commence this action and has 

retained counsel experienced in derivative litigation and corporate governance 

litigation.  To the extent Court permission is required to continue this action, such 

permission is hereby sought, and this Complaint constitutes Plaintiff’s prima facie 

case for obtaining such permission. 

202. The claims herein concern acts and omissions that were not authorized 

by Plains but, rather, occurred as a consequence of the unauthorized and unratified 

failure of Defendants to execute their fiduciary duties to the Company. 

203. Plaintiff has not made a demand on the Board of Directors to assert 

the claims set forth herein, as such a demand would be futile. Plains cannot act 

except through its Board of Directors, and the Board could not and would not 

objectively determine whether bringing these claims was in the best interests of the 

Company and its unitholders. 

204. First, the acts and decisions of the Plains Board—as catalogued 

herein—constituted a breach of the Director Defendants’ duties of care, oversight, 

good faith, candor, and loyalty.  Moreover, these breaches were so egregious as to 

result in criminal indictments against the Company.  This conduct was not, and 

could not have been, the product of the Board’s good faith, informed business 
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judgment.  As such, and for this separate and independent ground alone, demand 

on the Board to bring these claims on the Company’s behalf would be a futile 

gesture. 

205. Second, the Directors have conclusively demonstrated their inability 

or unwillingness to pay due care to safety and maintenance issues at Plains despite 

several prior regulatory actions seeking to hold them to account for their failures in 

that regard.  The Directors’ actions—or lack thereof—constituted more than 

simply unrelenting inattention, but rather constituted willful blindness to countless 

red flags signaling significant problems with Plains’ safety procedures and 

reporting structure. 

206. Third, the Directors face a substantial threat of liability for their 

breaches of fiduciary duty set forth herein.  Indeed, the Board members were 

specifically tasked with control and oversight over the conduct that had such grave 

consequences at Plains. 

207. Fourth, as described above, Defendant Armstrong, the executive or 

“inside” director of Plains is unable to objectively determine whether to bring these 

claims in all events.  Defendant Armstrong is incapable of impartially considering 

a demand because it would be against his own pecuniary interest to pursue this 

litigation.  Defendant Armstrong has received over $40 million compensation from 

Plains since 2012.  Currently, Defendant Armstrong holds an interest in 
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approximately 10.6 million Plains units that have not yet vested, with a total 

current value of about $300 million.  Accordingly, Defendant Armstrong’s 

significant financial ties to the Company render him unable to consider a demand. 

208. Moreover, Defendants Armstrong, Figlock, Sinnott, and Raymond 

also serve on the board of PAA GP Holdings LLC, and thus depend on the ability 

of both Plains GP and PAA GP Holdings LLC to make significant payments for 

their services.  These Defendants would not want to risk this dual compensation by 

bringing the claims at issue here.  In addition, as the Company admits in its public 

filings, Directors Figlock, Raymond, and Sinnott are not independent directors by 

virtue of their own companies’ interlocking business relationships with Plains. 

209. As described above, Defendant Figlock is the Vice President and 

Treasurer of Occidental.  Plains has an extensive financial relationship with 

Occidental.  In 2014, Plains MLP acquired a 50 percent interest in BridgeTex from 

Occidental for $1.088 billion.  Furthermore, in 2014, Plains recognized sales and 

transportation and storage revenues of approximately $1.2 billion from companies 

affiliated with Occidental, and Plains purchased nearly $1 billion of petroleum 

products from companies affiliated with Occidental.  In 2013, Plains recognized 

sales and transportation and storage revenues of approximately $1.3 billion from 

companies affiliated with Occidental, and purchased approximately $0.9 billion of 

petroleum products from companies affiliated with Occidental.  Similarly, in 2012, 
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Plains recognized sales and transportation and storage revenue of approximately 

$1.6 billion from companies affiliated with Occidental, as well as purchasing about 

$0.6 billion of petroleum products from companies affiliated with Occidental.  

Defendant Figlock would not endanger Occidental’s significant financial 

relationship with Plains by pursuing this litigation. 

210. Defendant Raymond is also incapable of impartially considering a 

demand because of his vast financial ties to Plains.  Defendant Raymond has been 

an owner of Plains’ general partner since 2001 and served on the Board of Plains’ 

general partner from 2001 to 2005.  Furthermore, Defendant Raymond is the 

founder and majority owner of The Energy & Materials Group, one of Plains 

MLP’s largest unitholders.  EMG Investment LLC (“EMG”) holds an interest in the 

general partner of NGL Energy Partners (“NGL”), which acquired High Sierra 

Energy LP (“High Sierra”) and its general partner, a company in which EMG 

previously had a 25 percent general partner interest, in 2012.  Defendant Raymond 

currently serves on the Board of NGL.  In 2012, Plains purchased $10.7 million of 

petroleum products from High Sierra and recognized crude oil sales and 

transportation revenues of $0.6 million from High Sierra. 

211. As described above, Defendant Sinnott is President, CEO, and Chief 

Investment Officer of Kayne Anderson.  Plains conducts significant dealings with 

Kayne Anderson.  For example, in 2014, Plains purchased approximately $6.2 
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million of oil from companies owned and controlled by funds managed by Kayne 

Anderson.  In 2013, Plains purchased approximately $3.9 million of oil from 

companies owned and controlled by funds managed by Kayne Anderson, and in 

2012, Plains MLP purchased approximately $5.6 million of oil from companies 

owned and controlled by funds managed by Kayne Anderson.  Sinnott would not 

endanger Kayne Anderson’s significant financial relationship with Plains by 

pursuing this litigation. 

212. Fifth, Plains’ purportedly independent directors, Defendants Goyanes, 

Symonds, and Temple, are members of the Company’s Audit Committee.  The 

Audit Committee Charter provides that the Audit Committee Members are 

responsible for monitoring “the compliance by the Partnership with legal and 

regulatory requirements.”  The Audit Committee Charter also requires the 

committee to “meet on at least a quarterly basis,” and to “make regular reports to 

the Board.”  In connection with any recommendation to the Board, the Audit 

Committee members are to “provide such background and supporting information 

as may be necessary for the Board to make an informed decision.” 

213. The Audit Committee members have wide-ranging compliance 

oversight responsibilities according to the Audit Committee Charter.  For example, 

the Audit Committee members must:  (i) obtain reports from management, the vice 

president of internal audit, and the independent auditory with respect to 
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compliance by the Company with applicable legal requirements; (ii) review 

reports, disclosure, and affiliated party transactions; and (iii) advise the Board with 

respect to policies and procedures regarding compliance by the Company with 

applicable laws and regulations. 

214. Moreover, the Audit Committee members are required to “discuss 

with the General Counsel legal matters that may (a) have a material impact on the 

Partnership’s financial statements or (b) result in material non-compliance by the 

Partnership and the Company with legal or regulatory requirements.” 

215. Accordingly, in light of the misconduct alleged herein, each of the 

Audit Committee members have breached their obligations to Plains under the 

Audit Committee Charter and are conflicted from responding to any demand to 

assert the claims set forth herein. 

216. Sixth, each current Plains Board member faces a substantial 

likelihood of liability in both this Action and in pending and potential actions 

under Section 11, and could not fairly consider a demand.  Each of the Directors 

has signed certain SEC filings made in connection with the public offering of 

shares of Plains, which contained false statements. 

217. The Director Defendants cannot reasonably be expected to defend 

Plains itself against allegations of misconduct in these actions while 

simultaneously pursuing these claims against officers, directors, and employees of 



85 
 

Plains for the very same or substantially related misconduct.  In light of the vast 

number of claims in the lawsuits seeking to hold Plains liable, it is not possible for 

the Director Defendants in this case, who constitute the entire Board, to impartially 

consider whether to bring these claims.  If the Company pressed forward with its 

rights of action against the Defendants in this case, then the Company’s efforts 

would undercut or even compromise the defense of the other lawsuits. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty 
 

218. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

219. Plaintiff brings this claim against all Defendants. 

220. By reason of their fiduciary relationships, Defendants owed the 

Company and its shareholders the highest obligation of good faith, fair dealing, 

loyalty, oversight, and due care. 

221. Defendants, and each of them, violated and breached their fiduciary 

duties by, inter alia:  (a) causing Plains to violate applicable law, disregarding their 

duties as fiduciaries; (b) causing Plains to violate pipeline integrity measures and 

environmental laws and exposing the Company and its shareholders to unnecessary 

costs, fines, penalties, and tort liability; (c) exposing the Company and its 
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shareholders to massive fines, penalties, and compensatory damages awards for 

violations of U.S. and state environmental laws; and (d) subjecting Plains to 

adverse publicity and loss of goodwill, greatly increased costs of capital, and 

impaired earnings. 

222. The Individual Defendants, in their roles as executives and/or 

directors of Plains GP and the Company, participated in the acts of 

mismanagement alleged herein, and/or acted in gross disregard of the facts, and/or 

failed to exercise due care to prevent the unlawful conduct. 

223. The Individual Defendants are not exculpated from liability herein 

because, as alleged herein, they failed to act in good faith and in a manner that they 

reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the Company, and they had reason 

to believe that the criminal conduct alleged herein was unlawful. 

224. Defendants Plains GP, as well as the other Entity Defendants, did not 

reasonably believe that their actions and failures to act as alleged herein were in or 

consistent with the best interests of Plains. 

225. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ failure to perform 

their fiduciary obligations, including the failure to maintain a system of internal 

controls adequate to insure the Company’s compliance with all applicable laws, 

Plains has suffered significant damages, including a drastic diminution in its 

reputation, good will, and the value of its assets. 
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226. As a result of the misconduct alleged herein, each of the Defendants is 

liable to the Company for the payment of money damages. 

COUNT II 

Waste of Corporate Assets 

227. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

228. Plaintiff brings this claim against all Defendants. 

229. As a direct and proximate result of the wrongdoing alleged herein, 

Defendants have unreasonably and unnecessarily caused Plains to expend millions 

of dollars of corporate assets, and have subjected the Company to additional 

liability in the untold millions of dollars, to the extreme detriment of the Company. 

230. Additionally, as set forth above, the Individual Defendants have 

awarded themselves excessively lucrative compensation that has no reasonable 

basis, but instead is designed only to enrich themselves in spite of their deceitful 

supervision of the Company and the Company’s dismal performance. 

231. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ waste of corporate 

assets as alleged herein, Plains has sustained damages. 

COUNT III 

Contribution 

232. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 
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233. Plaintiff brings this claim against all Defendants. 

234. The conduct of Defendants has exposed Plains to significant liability. 

235. Plains’ liability on account of the wrongful acts and practices and 

related misconduct described above arises, in whole or in part, from the knowing, 

reckless, disloyal, and/or bad faith acts and omissions of Defendants. 

236. Plains is entitled to contribution and indemnification from each of the 

Defendants in connection with all such claims that have been, are, or may in the 

future be asserted against Plains by virtue of Defendants’ wrongdoing. 

COUNT IV 

Breach of Contract 

237. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

238. Plaintiff brings this claim against Defendant Plains GP. 

239. Pursuant to the express terms of the Partnership Agreement, Plains GP 

has a contractual obligation to only take actions that it reasonably believes to be in 

the “best interests” of the Company. 

240. Plains GP knew of the extremely high risk of catastrophic injury 

inherent in the transportation of oil through a pipeline, but took no action to 

prevent such incidents or protect individuals, the environment, or the Company.  
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Indeed, in violation of the Partnership Agreement, Plains GP actively avoided 

taking action to mitigate the risks and damages that Line 901 presented. 

241. Plains GP’s actions and/or inactions, which subjected the Company to 

criminal and civil liabilities, constitute a breach of its contractual obligations, for 

which Plains GP bears ultimate responsibility. 

242. Plains has suffered damages as a result of Plains GP’s breaches of the 

Partnership Agreement. 

COUNT V 

Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith & Fair Dealing 

243. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every 

allegation contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

244. Plaintiff brings this claim against Defendant Plains GP. 

245. Pursuant to the express terms of the Partnership Agreement, Plains GP 

has a contractual obligation to only take actions that it reasonably believes to be in 

the “best interests” of the Company. 

246. Plains GP knew of the extremely high risk of catastrophic injury 

inherent in the transportation of oil through a pipeline, but took no action to 

prevent such incidents or protect individuals, the environment, or the Company.  

Indeed, in violation of the Partnership Agreement, Plains GP actively avoided 

taking action to mitigate the risks and damages that Line 901 presented. 
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247. Plains has performed its obligations and conditions precedent under 

the Partnership Agreement 

248. Plains GP’s actions and/or inactions unfairly interfered with the 

Company’s rights to receive the benefits of the Partnership Agreement and 

constitute breaches of the implied contractual covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing. 

249. Plains has suffered damages as a result of Plains GP’s breaches of the 

implied contractual covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment as follows: 

A. Awarding money damages against all Defendants, jointly and 

severally, for all losses and damages suffered as a result of the misconduct 

complained of herein, together with pre-judgment interest, structured in a fashion 

to ensure that Defendants do not participate herein or benefit hereby. 

B. Directing Defendants to account for all damages caused by them and 

all profits and special benefits and unjust enrichment they have obtained as a result 

of their misconduct, including all salaries, bonuses, fees, stock awards, options, 

and common stock sale proceeds, and imposing a constructive trust thereon. 

C. Directing Plains to take all necessary actions to reform and improve 

its corporate governance and internal procedures, including putting forward for a 
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shareholder vote resolutions for amendments to the Company’s articles of 

incorporation and by-laws, and taking other such actions as may be necessary to 

place before shareholders for a vote the following corporate governance policies: 

1. providing that the Company be governed by a board consisting 

of a majority of independent directors, including a lead independent director; 

2. strengthening the Board’s supervision of operations and 

developing and implementing procedures for greater unitholder input into the 

policies and guidelines of the Board with respect to supervision of operations; 

3. establishing an environmental and litigation exposure oversight 

committee, staffed entirely by independent, non-executive directors and provided 

with adequate financial resources to retain independent counsel and advisors; 

4. permitting unitholders to nominate at least three candidates for 

election to Plains’ Board of Directors; 

5. testing and strengthening the internal audit and control 

functions; 

6. controlling and limiting improper payments of unearned 

compensation, corporate benefits, stock awards, and other emoluments, including 

instituting a performance-based “delay and claw-back” policy, whereby the 

payment of bonuses and other incentive-based compensation to Company officers 

is delayed for a definite period, and/or is subject to return to the Company, pending 
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determination of whether the Company operated without serious environmental or 

litigation exposure for the period in question; 

7. requiring full compliance with Sarbanes Oxley; and 

8. permitting unitholders to question all executive directors of 

Plains at the annual general meeting and establishing a more transparent process 

for receiving and evaluating unitholder proposals. 

D. Awarding punitive damages. 

E. Declaring that Plains is entitled to contribution and indemnification 

from all Defendants. 

F. Awarding costs and disbursements of this action, including reasonable 

attorneys’, accountants’, and experts’ fees. 

G. Granting such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and 

proper. 

Dated: January 17, 2017 HALLORAN FARKAS + KITTILA LLP 
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